
 
Regular and Closed Council Meeting Agenda 
for Monday, February 26, 2024, at 1:00 p.m.  

to be held in Council Chambers at the,  
 Municipal Office at 4512 – 46 Street, Olds, AB  

 
This Regular Council Meeting will be conducted in Council Chambers at the Municipal Office at 4512 – 46 
Street in Olds, with the public body present at meeting location and will be live streamed out via the 
Town of Olds website. 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER   
 
 A.) ADDED ITEM(s)         
  
 B.) ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA 
 
2. ADOPTION OF PREVIOUS MINUTES        
Page 3  2A) Adoption of previous council meeting minutes 

• Regular Council Meeting Minutes – February 12, 2024 
        
3. DELEGATIONS AND PRESENTATIONS 
Page 7 3A) Delegation: MLA Nathan Cooper 
Page 8  3B) RCMP Quarterly Report 
 
4. BYLAWS 
Page 21  4A) Bylaw 2024-05 Animal Bylaw  

(Consideration be given for second reading.) 
Page 62 4B)  Bylaw 2024-12 Land Use Bylaw 01-23 Amendment 

5200 58 Street – Rezoning from UR to R4 
 (Introduction, first reading and set public hearing.) 
Page 73  4C) Bylaw 2024-13 Land Use Bylaw 01-23 Amendment  

Secondary Suites – Amending to allow in duplexes and as detached suites in R2 
 (Introduction, first reading and set public hearing.) 

 
5. NEW BUSINESS 
Page 77 5A) Olds Fibre Ltd. Interest Forgiveness Request 
Page 78 5B) Council Appointment to Community Futures Central Alberta Board 
 
6. CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER’S REPORT  
Page  79 6A) Chief Administrative Officer Report  
 
7. CORRESPONDENCE AND INFORMATION 
Page 81  7A) Correspondence and Information 
 
8. REPORTS FROM COUNCIL, BOARDS, COMMISSIONS AND COMMITTEES 
Page 85 8A) Reports from Council, Boards, Commission and Committees 



Town of Olds Council Meeting Agenda for February 26, 2024 
Page 2 of 2 
 
 
9. CLOSED SESSION  
Item #1 FOIP  
Section 17 – Disclosure harmful to personal privacy 
(Council Remuneration Review Committee - Appointments) 
 
Item #2 FOIP 
Section 16 Disclosure harmful to business interests of a third party 
(Water Commission Update) 

 
10. RISE AND REPORT  
Page 95  10A) Public at Large Appointments to the Council Remuneration Review Committee 
 
11.    ADJOURNMENT  
 
 
 
 
 
PUBLIC INFORMATION: 
Media Scrum: any questions arising from the media can be sent to communications@olds.ca and they will be forwarded on to the person 
addressed. 
 
CLOSED SESSION INFORMATION:  
When Council goes into a CLOSED SESSION, for continued participation in the virtual Council meeting: stay online in the live stream meeting 
platform, and the meeting stream will be replaced by a graphic and music will play. When the music stops, the meeting is reconvening.  
 
If you choose to shut down your live stream, watch the Town of Olds social media feeds where the reconvening time will be posted. The social 
media feeds can also be found at the bottom of the homepage on the Town of Olds website. 
 
 
 
 

mailto:communications@olds.ca


 
PRIOR TO ADOPTION 

 
Minutes of the Town of Olds Regular and Closed Council meeting held on Monday, February 12, 2024, at 
1:00 p.m. in the Council Chambers, at the Municipal Office at 4512 – 46 Street in Olds, with the public 
body present at meeting location and was live streamed out.  
 
PRESENT – ELECTED OFFICIALS:  
In the Chair, Mayor Judy Dahl  
Councillor Wanda Blatz, Councillor James Cummings, Councillor Dan Daley, Councillor Harvey Walsh, 
Councillor Heather Ryan, and Councillor Darren Wilson 
 
ABSENT– ELECTED OFFICIALS:  
 
PRESENT for the Regular meeting of Council – STAFF:  
Brent Williams, Chief Administrative Officer; Sgt. Paul Wright, Senior Community Peace Officer, and 
Marcie McKinnon, Legislative Clerk 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER   
Mayor Dahl called the meeting to order at 1:00 p.m. 
 
 A.) ADDED ITEM(s)         
 
 B.) ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA 
Moved by Councillor Daley, “to accept the Council agenda for the Monday, February 12, 2024, Regular 
Council meeting.”   
Motion Carried 24-57 
 
2. ADOPTION OF PREVIOUS MINUTES        
2A) Regular Council Meeting Minutes  
Mayor Dahl confirmed consensus to adopt the  

• Regular Council Meeting Minutes – January 22, 2024 
The minutes were adopted as presented by consensus of Council. 
Motion Carried 24-58 

        
3. DELEGATIONS AND PRESENTATIONS  
 
4. BYLAWS 
4A) Bylaw 2024-05 Animal Bylaw  
Sgt. Paul Wright, Senior Community Peace Officer presented a high-level summary on the proposed 
Animal Bylaw; including key areas of focus such as Animal Licenses/Number of Animals per household, 
Cat Traps, Abandoned/Stray Dogs, Barking Dogs and Vicious Animals.  
 
Council discussion ensued; CAO Williams and Sgt. Wright fielded Council questions.  
 
Moved by Councillor Blatz, “that Council give first reading to the Animal Bylaw 2024-05, as presented.” 
Motion Carried 24-59 
 
Director Lorraine O’Brien joined the meeting at 1:30 p.m. 
Sgt. Paul Wright left the meeting at 1:32 p.m. 
 
5. NEW BUSINESS 
5A) Family and Community Support Services Grant Recommendations 

3

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Town of Olds Council Meeting Agenda for February 12, 2024 
Page 2 of 4 
 
Moved by Councillor Wilson, “that Council approves Family Community Support Services (FCSS) grants 
for 2024 as recommended by administration.” 
 

ORGANIZATION RECOMMENDED 

BGC of Olds and Area 
The Zone Youth Centre Programming 
Babysitting / Home Alone Course 
Summer Programming 
After School Programming 

 
$22,000.00 
$1,000.00 
$1,500.00 
$2,500.00 
TOTAL - $27,000.00 

Chinooks Edge – YES Program $15,000.00 
Hope for 4 MV Kids $500.00 
Mountain View Emergency Shelter Society – Resiliency 
Programs 

$6,500.00 

Mountain View Moccasin House $4,000.00 
Mountain View Regional Libraries – Books for Babies $464.00 
Olds & District Hospice Society $1,000.00 
Special Family Voices  

$1,500.00 
TOTAL  

$55,964.00 
Motion Carried 24-60 
 
Director O’Brien left the meeting at 1:39 p.m. 
 
5B) Town of Olds Annual Report 
Moved by Councillor Blatz, “that Council accepts the Town of Olds 2023 Annual Report as presented.” 
Motion Carried 24-61 
 
5C) Notice of Motion – Councillor Wilson 
Moved by Councillor Wilson, “that Council accept the notice of motion and direct the CAO to return with 
a report on potential options within 60 days.” 
Motion Carried 24-62 
 
5D) Rotary Athletic Park of Olds – Dirt Jump Track  
Moved by Councillor Ryan, “that Council direct the Chief Administrative Officer to engage with 
volunteers interested in a dirt jump track to further explore its potential in Olds, and to update Council 
by June 30th, 2024.” 
Motion Carried 24-63   
 
Development Permits 
Kyle Sloan, Municipal Planner for the Town, presented the following two developments to Council for 
consideration.  
 
5E) DP24-008 – Residential Addition (to existing dwelling) (4102 50 Avenue) 
Moved by Councillor Daley, “that Council approve Development Permit application DP24-008 as 
amended, subject to the conditions listed in the attached draft Development Permit.”(Under Point two 

4

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Town of Olds Council Meeting Agenda for February 12, 2024 
Page 3 of 4 
 
delete “for an R5 district“ from the condition.) 
Motion Carried 24-64 
 
5F) DP24-010 – Accessory Use (licensed restaurant) (5622 46 Street)  
Moved by Councillor Cummings, “that Council approve Development Permit application DP24-010 as 
presented, subject to the conditions listed in the attached draft Development Permit.” 
Motion Carried 24-65 
 
6. CORRESPONDENCE AND INFORMATION 
6A) Correspondence and Information 
Moved by Councillor Wilson, “that the Correspondence and Information Report ending February 12, 
2024, be received for information.” 
Motion Carried 24-66 
 
7. CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER’S REPORT  
7A) Chief Administrative Officer Report  
To include a Closed Session Item FOIP Section 16 Disclosure harmful to business interests of a third party 
(Development Information) 
   
CAO Williams spoke on the following: 
 - “Volunteer Meet Up” is being held monthly at the Community Connections Centre, featuring 

information on different non-profit organizations and the volunteers they are seeking, providing 
opportunities for interested citizens to learn about each organization. 

 - Thank you to the Citizens that utilized the Report-A-Problem to report water issues with the 
extreme temperature changes, those reports helped us identify small issues before they became 
bigger issues.  THANK YOU! 

 - All Staff half-day meeting will be held in the afternoon on February 14, most Town facilities will 
have modified hours that day as posted.   

 
Councillor Cummings left the meeting at 2:22 p.m. and returned at 2:24 p.m. 
 
Moved by Councillor Ryan, “that the Chief Administrative Officer Report, be accepted, as presented.” 
Motion Carried 24-67 
 
Mayor Dahl provided directions to online meeting participants on Council moving in and out of closed 
session.  
 
Moved by Councillor Wilson, “that Council moves into closed session in accordance with Section 197(2)  
of the Municipal Government Act at 2:28 p.m. to discuss matters exempt from disclosure under FOIP  
Section 16 Disclosure harmful to business interests of a third party, with CAO Williams and Marcie  
McKinnon to remain in attendance.” 
Motion Carried 24-68 
 
The gallery was cleared, and the live stream was paused.  
 
Moved by Councillor Blatz, “that the meeting reconvenes to the regular Council meeting at 4:00 p.m.” 
Motion Carried 24-69 
 
The gallery was opened, and the live stream was resumed. 

 

5

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Town of Olds Council Meeting Agenda for February 12, 2024 
Page 4 of 4 
 
Moved by Councillor Cummings, “that Council accept for information, the Chief Administrative  
Officer Report.” 
Motion Carried 24-70 
 
8. ADJOURNMENT  
Mayor Dahl adjourned the meeting at 4:02 p.m. 
 
 
 
_________________________________   ________________________________ 
Judy Dahl,       Brent Williams, 
Mayor        Chief Administrative Officer 
 
 
These minutes were approved on the ____ day of February 2024. 
 
 
 
 

6

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



 

Page 1 of 1 

  
Delegation: MLA Nathan Cooper 

Request for Decision 

Delegation: MLA Nathan Cooper 

February 26, 2024   
 

RECOMMENDATION 

That Mr. Cooper be thanked for attending the February 26th Regular Council Meeting and speaking to 
Council. 
 

STRATEGIC ALIGNMENT 
Our community is supported and enabled through skillful governance.  
Our thriving community is built on strong and collaborative relationships.  
Sound fiscal practices are balanced with a commitment to prioritizing value for our citizens. 

LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY- N/A 

BACKGROUND 

Nathan Cooper was elected to the Legislative Assembly of Alberta, representing the constituency of 
Olds-Didsbury-Three Hills, on May 5, 2015, and re-elected in 2019.  
 
Mr. Cooper was elected to serve as the Speaker of the Legislative Assembly of Alberta on May 21, 2019 
and is still active in that role. 

 
FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS   ☐ Operating  ☐ Capital ☒ Not Applicable 
 
KEY MESSAGES 
Town of Olds Council is pleased to have Nathan Cooper attend its February 26th Regular Council Meeting 
and provide an update to Citizens. 

ATTACHMENTS – n/a 

 
 

CAO Review: Brent Williams Date:  February 23, 2024 

 
 

7

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Speaker_of_the_Legislative_Assembly_of_Alberta


 

Page 1 of 1 

  
RCMP Quarterly Report 

Request for Decision 

RCMP Quarterly Report 

February 26, 2024    
 

RECOMMENDATION 

That Council accepts the Royal Canadian Mounted Police quarterly report as presented.  

STRATEGIC ALIGNMENT 
 
Our community is supported and enabled through skillful governance. 
Our thriving community is built on strong and collaborative relationships. 
Sound fiscal practices are balanced with a commitment to prioritizing value for our citizens.  

LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY 

1. Municipal Government Act 

BACKGROUND  
 
S/Sgt. Wright will present the quarterly report to council as contained in the agenda package.  
 
FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS   ☐ Operating  ☐ Capital ☒ Not Applicable 
Details: 
 
KEY MESSAGES 
Presenting quarterly statistics to the community promotes accountability, community engagement, and 
targeted prevention efforts, all of which contribute to enhanced public safety and well-being.  
 
 ATTACHMENTS 
 

1. RCMP Community Town Letter to Olds 
2. RCMP Municipal Policing Reports Q3 
3. Olds Municipal Detachment Crime Statistics Q3 

 

CAO Review: Brent Williams Date:  February 22, 2024 

 
 

8

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



 

 

 

2024-01-31 

Sgt. Randy Poon 
Acting Detachment Commander 
Olds, Alberta 

Dear Mr. Justin Andrew, 
 

Please find the quarterly Community Policing Report attached that covers the October 1st to 
December 31st, 2023 reporting period. The attached report serves to provide a quarterly 
snapshot of the human resources, financial data and crime statistics for the Olds Detachment.   

I would also like to update you on one of our current technological endeavours. Over the last 
decade, the RCMP has utilized Remotely Piloted Aircraft Systems (RPAS) to support our 
specialized units, i.e. our Emergency Response Teams – which has been incredibly effective for 
enhancing police and public safety. Although the advancement of technology benefits industry 
and recreation, it facilitates greater accessibility for criminals, which requires a strategic 
response. To remain current in our ever-changing environment, and to be responsive to public 
reviews that call for better access to air support such as the Nova Scotia Mass Casualty 
Commission of Inquiry, we are actively researching and testing new technologies in a policing 
environment to enhance public safety.  One such technology is how we might use RPAS for 
potential new police applications.  This includes how we might use RPAS to assist with select calls 
for service, crime photography, search and rescue, and unfolding critical incidents, i.e. an active 
shooter.  With its potential and capability for wider applications, we are further considering 
program options for our municipal, rural, and Indigenous communities; scalable depending on 
community need and interest. While we will always need a helicopter and fixed-wing aircraft for 
the movement of resources, these larger assets are not always immediately available.  RPAS 
technology is providing an opportunity for our communities to effectively have their own police 
air support, at a significantly lower cost. As I learn more about further opportunities and 
challenges, I will be sure to keep you updated and informed.  

Your ongoing engagement and the feedback you provide guides our Detachment team, and 
supports the reinforcement of your policing priorities. I always remain available to discuss your 
community-identified policing priorities and/or any ideas you may have that will enhance our 
service delivery to address the priorities that are important to you. As the Chief of Police for your 
community, I invite you to contact me should you have any questions or concerns. 
 
Sgt. Randy Poon 
Acting Detachment Commander 
Olds RCMP Detachment 

9

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



CATEGORY Trend 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
% Change 

2019 - 2023

% Change 

2022 - 2023

Avg File +/- 

per Year

     Offences Related to Death 0 0 0 0 0 N/A N/A 0.0

     Robbery 0 0 0 0 1 N/A N/A 0.2

     Sexual Assaults 6 4 0 3 1 -83% -67% -1.1

     Other Sexual Offences 2 1 3 2 1 -50% -50% -0.1

     Assault 13 25 28 25 26 100% 4% 2.6

     Kidnapping/Hostage/Abduction 0 0 0 0 0 N/A N/A 0.0

     Extortion 1 0 2 0 1 0% N/A 0.0

     Criminal Harassment 3 5 4 7 8 167% 14% 1.2

     Uttering Threats 4 4 10 15 9 125% -40% 2.1

TOTAL PERSONS 29 39 47 52 47 62% -10% 4.9

     Break & Enter 21 5 17 9 5 -76% -44% -2.8

     Theft of Motor Vehicle 48 17 7 10 7 -85% -30% -8.9

     Theft Over $5,000 2 1 3 2 6 200% 200% 0.9

     Theft Under $5,000 64 35 32 34 29 -55% -15% -7.1

     Possn Stn Goods 15 15 5 2 2 -87% 0% -3.9

     Fraud 21 17 16 25 22 5% -12% 1.0

     Arson 0 0 0 0 0 N/A N/A 0.0

     Mischief - Damage To Property 40 30 26 24 25 -38% 4% -3.6

     Mischief - Other 30 12 20 21 9 -70% -57% -3.3

TOTAL PROPERTY 241 132 126 127 105 -56% -17% -27.7

     Offensive Weapons 3 2 3 2 2 -33% 0% -0.2

     Disturbing the peace 10 11 12 7 12 20% 71% 0.0

     Fail to Comply & Breaches 34 81 42 9 8 -76% -11% -12.4

     OTHER CRIMINAL CODE 6 9 7 7 7 17% 0% 0.0

TOTAL OTHER CRIMINAL CODE 53 103 64 25 29 -45% 16% -12.6

TOTAL CRIMINAL CODE 323 274 237 204 181 -44% -11% -35.4

Olds Municipal Detachment

Crime Statistics (Actual)

January 5, 2024

Q4: 2019 - 2023
All categories contain "Attempted" and/or "Completed"

10

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



CATEGORY Trend 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
% Change 

2019 - 2023

% Change 

2022 - 2023

Avg File +/- 

per Year

     Drug Enforcement - Production 0 0 0 0 0 N/A N/A 0.0

     Drug Enforcement - Possession 0 0 1 1 1 N/A 0% 0.3

     Drug Enforcement - Trafficking 0 1 4 5 3 N/A -40% 1.0

     Drug Enforcement - Other 0 1 0 0 0 N/A N/A -0.1

Total Drugs 0 2 5 6 4 N/A -33% 1.2

     Cannabis Enforcement 1 0 0 1 0 -100% -100% -0.1

     Federal - General 2 2 0 5 1 -50% -80% 0.1

TOTAL FEDERAL 3 4 5 12 5 67% -58% 1.2

     Liquor Act 0 0 3 1 1 N/A 0% 0.3

     Cannabis Act 0 1 0 0 0 N/A N/A -0.1

     Mental Health Act 22 26 20 24 14 -36% -42% -1.8

     Other Provincial Stats 24 48 37 28 44 83% 57% 2.0

Total Provincial Stats 46 75 60 53 59 28% 11% 0.4

     Municipal By-laws Traffic 1 1 5 0 0 -100% N/A -0.3

     Municipal By-laws 23 8 13 15 11 -52% -27% -1.7

Total Municipal 24 9 18 15 11 -54% -27% -2.0

     Fatals 0 0 0 0 0 N/A N/A 0.0

     Injury MVC 3 5 4 5 1 -67% -80% -0.4

     Property Damage MVC (Reportable) 35 26 67 36 52 49% 44% 4.4

     Property Damage MVC (Non Reportable) 6 4 3 6 7 17% 17% 0.4

TOTAL MVC 44 35 74 47 60 36% 28% 4.4

     Roadside Suspension - Alcohol (Prov) N/A N/A N/A N/A 5 N/A N/A N/A

     Roadside Suspension - Drugs (Prov) N/A N/A N/A N/A 0 N/A N/A N/A

Total Provincial Traffic 128 111 129 95 196 53% 106% 12.0

Other Traffic 1 2 5 1 2 100% 100% 0.1

Criminal Code Traffic 25 13 20 9 18 -28% 100% -1.8

Common Police Activities

     False Alarms 21 14 17 25 16 -24% -36% 0.1

     False/Abandoned 911 Call and 911 Act 23 12 18 14 16 -30% 14% -1.2

     Suspicious Person/Vehicle/Property 29 36 12 31 28 -3% -10% -0.7

     Persons Reported Missing 4 3 4 3 4 0% 33% 0.0

     Search Warrants 1 0 0 0 0 -100% N/A -0.2

     Spousal Abuse - Survey Code (Reported) 12 23 31 17 12 0% -29% -0.6

     Form 10 (MHA) (Reported) 0 3 0 4 1 N/A -75% 0.3

Olds Municipal Detachment

Crime Statistics (Actual)

All categories contain "Attempted" and/or "Completed" January 5, 2024

Q4: 2019 - 2023

11

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



12

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



13

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



14

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



15

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



16

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



17

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



18

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



19

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



20

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



 

Page 1 of 1 

  
Bylaw 2024-05 Animal 

Request for Decision 

Bylaw 2024-05 Animal 

February 26, 2024    
 

RECOMMENDATION 

That Council give second reading to the Animal Bylaw 2024-05, as presented. 

STRATEGIC ALIGNMENT 
 
Our community is supported and enabled through skillful governance. 
Our thriving community is built on strong and collaborative relationships. 

LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY 

1. Municipal Government Act 
2. Provincial Legislation 

BACKGROUND  

Administration recognizes the need to establish responsible pet ownership practices and 
guidelines to help aid in promoting the well-being of animals, ensuring public safety, and fostering 
responsible pet ownership, This, in turn, contributes to a healthier, respectful, and harmonious 
community environment.  This proposed bylaw is now presented before the council for a second 
reading and subsequent Council direction.   
 
FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS   ☐ Operating  ☐ Capital ☒ Not Applicable 
Details: 
 
KEY MESSAGES 
The creation of a stand-alone Animal Bylaw will aid in promoting the well-being of animals, ensuring 
public safety, fostering responsible pet ownership, and enabling easier navigation of bylaws for citizens.  
 
 ATTACHMENTS 
 

1. Draft Bylaw 2024-05 Animal 
2. Animal Bylaw Presentation 

 

CAO Review: Brent Williams  Date: 23 Friday 2024 

 
 

21

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



TOWN OF OLDS  
BYLAW NO. 2024–05   

BEING A BYLAW OF THE TOWN OF OLDS TO REGULATE ANIMALS WITHIN THE TOWN OF OLDS  
  
WHEREAS pursuant to section 7(a) of the Municipal Government Act RSA 2000 C M-26, a council may 
pass bylaws for municipal purposes respecting the safety, health and welfare of people and the protection 
of people and property;  
 
AND WHEREAS pursuant to section 7(h) of the Municipal Government Act RSA 2000 C M-26, a council 
may pass bylaws for municipal purposes respecting wild and domestic animals and activities in relation to 
them;  
  
AND WHEREAS pursuant to section 7(i) of the Municipal Government Act RSA 2000 C M-26, a council 
may pass bylaws for municipal purposes respecting the enforcement of bylaws made under the Municipal 
Government Act or any other enactment including any or all of the matters listed therein;  
  
AND WHEREAS pursuant to section 8 of the Municipal Government Act RSA 2000 C M-26, a council may 
by bylaw regulate or prohibit, or provide for a system of Licences, permits or approval including any or all 
the matters listed therein.  
  

Schedule “1” Fines and Penalties 
Schedule “2” Prohibited Animals 
Schedule “3” Dr. Ian Dunbar’s Aggression Scale 
Schedule “4” Animal Seizure and Impoundment Form 
Schedule “5” Vicious Animal Sign 
Schedule “6” Bark Log 

 
 
NOW THEREFORE the municipal Council of the Town of Olds in the Province of Alberta, duly assembled, 
enacts as follows:   
  

PART 1 
BYLAW TITLE 

  
1. This Bylaw may be cited as the “Animal Bylaw”.   

  
PART 2 

DEFINITIONS 
  

2. “Animal” means any bird, reptile, amphibian, or mammal excluding humans and wildlife. 
 

3. “Animal Material” means any excrement and includes all material accumulated on Property 
from pet pens or pet yards, stables, veterinary clinics, animal hospitals, kennels, or feed lots. 

  
4. “At Large” means an Animal that is not on a Leash, except:  

 

22

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 2 of 31 
 

i) when the Animal is fully contained upon and within private Property with the consent of the 
Owner or Person in control of the Property; or 
 

ii) when the Animal is under control of the Owner or of a Competent Person and upon the 
Property of the Owner or within an Off Leash Area; or  
 

iii) while the Animal is participating in an organized show or competition and under the control 
of a Competent Person.  

  
5. “Attack” means any application of force by an animal causing an injury (Minor or Severe).  

 
6. “Bark” means howling, whining, whimpering, baying, or barking. 

 
7. “Bee” means the insect Apis Mellifera L.  

 
8. “Waste” means the carcass and offal of an animal in whole or in part and includes animal or 

human excrement or manure. 
 

9. "Bite" means an injury by teeth, including but not limited, to a bruise, a laceration, a puncture, 
or a bone break.  

 
10.  “Cat” means any domestic member of the Felidae family.   

  
11. ”Chief Administrative Officer” or “CAO” means the individual appointed by Council to the 

position of Chief Administrative Officer under section 205 of the Municipal Government Act 
and pursuant to the Chief Administrative Officer Bylaw; or anyone authorized to act on his/her 
behalf.   
 

12. “Communicable Disease” means diseases and zoonotic diseases that can pass from animal to 
animal.   
 

13. “Competent Person” means a Person who is physically and mentally capable of restraining and 
controlling a Dog or a Cat to an extent that the Dog or a Cat cannot interfere with other 
Persons or animals or cause Damage to Property. 
 

14. “Coop” means a fully enclosed outdoor weatherproof structure used for the keeping of 
Urban Chickens meeting required structural specifications in the Land Use Bylaw.  

 
15. “Council” means the Town of Olds municipal Council.  

 
16. “Dog” means a domestic member of the Canidae family.   

 
17. “Heat” means a recurring period of sexual receptivity in many female mammals.  

 
18. “Hen” means a domesticated female chicken.  

  
19.  “Highway” means any thoroughfare, street, road, trail, avenue, parkway, driveway, viaduct, 

lane, alley, square, bridge, causeway, trestle way or other place or any part of any of them, 

23

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 3 of 31 
 

whether publicly or privately owned, that the public is ordinarily entitled or permitted to use 
for the passage or Parking of Vehicles and includes:  
  

i.  a Sidewalk, including a Boulevard adjacent to the Sidewalk, and 
  

ii. if a ditch lies adjacent to and parallel with the Roadway, the ditch, and  
  

iii. if a Highway right of way is contained between fences or between a fence and one side 
of the Roadway, all the land between the fences, or all the land between the fence and 
the edge of the Roadway, as the case may be,  

  
but does not include a place declared by provincial regula�on not to be a Highway.   

 
20. “Impound” means to take possession of and arrange for the lodging of and caring for 

a Dog, or a Cat, at a facility contracted to the Town for that purpose. 
 

21. “Leash” means any material that is less than 2 meters in length capable of humanely 
restraining a Dog, or a Cat. 

 
22. “Licence” means a Dog, or Urban Hen Licence issued by the Town to the Owner of a Dog or 

Urban Hen. 
 

23. “Livestock” includes, but is not limited to:  
 

i. horse, mule, ass, swine, emu, ostrich, llama, alpaca, sheep, or goat;  
 

ii. domestically reared or kept deer, reindeer, moose, elk, or bison; farm-bred, fur-
bearing animals including foxes and mink; animals of the bovine species;  
 

iii. animals of the avian species including chickens, turkeys, ducks, geese, or pheasants;  
 

iv. and all other animals that are kept for agricultural purposes, but does not include cats, 
dogs, or other domesticated household pets.  

 
24.  “Minor Injury” means any physical injury to another domes�c animal or a person, caused by 

an animal, that results in bleeding, bruising, tearing of skin or any other injury that is not life-
threatening, disfiguring or debilita�ng.  
 

25. “Municipal Viola�on Ticket” means a Town-issued no�ce that alleges an offence and provides a 
person with the opportunity to pay an amount to the Town in lieu of prosecu�on for the 
offence.  
 

26. “Noise” means sound which in the opinion of the Peace Officer, having regard for all 
circumstances, including the �me of day and the nature of the ac�vity genera�ng the sound, is 
likely to unreasonably annoy or disturb persons or to injure, endanger or detract from the 
comfort, repose, health, peace, or safety of persons within the boundary of the Town. 

 

24

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 4 of 31 
 

27. “Off Leash Area” means an area established, by resolution of Council, as being an area where 
a Dog, that is under the control of a Competent Person, is permitted with such Dog being off 
a Leash.   

 
28. “Officer” means a person appointed by the Town to enforce the provisions of this bylaw 

including a Bylaw Enforcement Officer, Community Peace Officer, or a member of the RCMP.   
 

29. “Owner” or “Owners” in respect to a Dog, Cat, Hen, or Rooster means:  
 

i. a Person, partnership, association, or corporation owning, possessing, or having 
control over a Dog, Cat, Hen, or Rooster;  
 

ii. a Person permitting any Dog or Cat, to remain about his/her house or Premises; 
  

iii. a Person whom a Dog, or Urban Hen Licence has been issued; or  
 

iv. a Person who collects or assumes responsibility for a Dog, Cat, Hen, or Rooster that has 
been seized pursuant to the provisions of this Bylaw.  

  
30. “Payment in Lieu" means a voluntary payment made within 21 days of the offence date 

recorded on a Municipal Violation Ticket. 
  

31. “Peace Officer” means a Person employed for the purposes of preserving and 
maintaining the public peace, and includes: 
 

i) a Police Officer under the Police Act; 
 

ii) a Peace Officer appointed under the Peace Office Act for the purpose of the Act; and  
 
iii) a Bylaw Enforcement Officer or Community Peace Officer authorized to enforce 

this Bylaw in accordance with their appointment. 
 

32. “Person” means any individual, firm, partnership, associa�on, corpora�on, company, or 
society but, unless the context otherwise requires, does not include the Town. 

 
33. “Prohibited Animal” means any animal(s), as outlined in Schedule “2” contained 

in this bylaw. 
 

34. “Property” means any public or private land or Building located within the Town.  
 

35. “Roadway” means that part of a Highway intended for use by vehicular traffic. 
 

36. “Rooster” means a domesticated male chicken.  
 

37. “Schedule” means a schedule attached to and forming part of this Bylaw. 
  

38. “Service Dog” means a qualified Service Dog as defined in the Service Dogs Act, RSA 
2007, c. S-7.5 and the Service Qualifications Regulations AR 59/2017.  

25

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 5 of 31 
 

  
39. “Severe Injury” means any physical injury to another domes�c animal, or a person caused by a 

Dog that is life threatening or results in broken bones or lacera�ons requiring sutures or 
cosme�c surgery. 

40. “Threatening Behaviour” means a behaviour that creates a reasonable apprehension of a 
threat of physical injury and may include growling, lunging, snarling, or chasing in a menacing 
fashion. 

 
41. “Town” means the Town of Olds, a municipal corporation of the Province of Alberta, and 

includes, where the context so requires, the area contained within the boundaries of the Town 
of Olds.  
 

42. “Urban Hen” means a hen that is at least sixteen (16) weeks of age.  
 

43. “Urban Hen Licence” means a licence issued pursuant to this bylaw which authorizes the 
holder to keep Urban Hens on a specific property within the Town.  
 

44. "Veterinarian" means a registered Veterinarian as defined in the Veterinary Profession Act, 
R.S.A. 2000, c.V-2.  

 
45. “Vicious Dog” means a Dog that, whether on public or private Property, has: 

 
i. biten, atacked, chased, injured, or caused injury to a Person or other animal; 

 
ii. created the reasonable apprehension of a threat of physical injury to a Person or other 

Animals; 
 

iii. in the opinion of a Peace Officer, based on observa�on or based on facts gathered 
through an inves�ga�on, or which in the opinion of a Judge or Jus�ce of the Provincial 
Court who has entered a convic�on in respect of the Dog for a contraven�on of this 
Bylaw, presents a threat of serious harm to a Person or persons or other animals; or 
 

iv. been declared by a Court to be a “Dangerous Dog” or declared pursuant to a Bylaw of 
another municipal jurisdic�on to be a Vicious Dog or otherwise a danger or threat to 
persons or other animals. 

 
46. “Violation Ticket” means a Violation Ticket issued in accordance with the Provincial Offences 

Procedure Act R.S.A. 2000, c.P-34.   
 

 
PART 3 

STATEMENT OF TO WHOM AND TO WHAT THE BYLAW APPLIES 
 

47. This bylaw pertains to the regulation of Animal control within the Town of Olds, encompassing 
the management of domestic, livestock, and wildlife animals, as well as activities associated 
with them.  

 

26

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 6 of 31 
 

PART 4 
GENERAL RULES AND PROVISIONS 

  
License's Required   
  

48. No person shall own, keep, or cause to be kept any Prohibited Animal(s) in the Town of Olds.  
 

49. Any Animal except Urban Hens shall wear a Licence purchased for that Animal when the 
Animal is off the property of the Owner;  
 

50. The Owner of an Animal shall:  
  

i) be eighteen (18) years of age or older.  
 
ii) obtain a Town Licence for their Animal on the first day on which the Town office is 

open for business before the animal reaches 12 months of age; and forthwith notify an 
Officer of any change with respect to any information provided in an application for a 
Licence under this Bylaw.  

 
iii) Shall provide the necessary documentation, including, but not limited to, Veterinarian 

records, when requested by an Officer.  
  

51. When applying for a Licence under this Bylaw, the Owner shall provide the following:  
  

i) description of the Animal including breed, name, gender, and age;  
 

ii) the name, address, and telephone number of the Owner;  
 

iii) if the Owner is a body corporate, the name, address, and telephone number of the 
natural person responsible for the Animal;   

 
iv) information establishing that the Animal is spayed or neutered, if applicable;  

 
v) any other information which the Town of Olds may require; and purchase the 

annual Licence fee for each Animal, as set out in Town of Olds Rate Bylaw.  
 

52. No person shall give false information when applying for a Licence pursuant to this Bylaw.  
  

53. Animal License's shall be purchased once for the lifetime of the animal from the Town for each 
Animal owned, at the fee as set out in the Town of Olds Rate Bylaw:  

 
i) before the animal reaches 12 months of age; and  

 
ii) shall always be worn by the animal when the animal is off the owner’s property.  

  
54. No animal Licence shall be required for an animal that is accompanying a person who is  

  visiting the Town if they do not stay in the Town more than thirty (30) days:  
  

27

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 7 of 31 
 

i) The owner must be able to produce proof that they are visiting the Town not more 
than thirty (30) days;  

 
ii) This section includes animals brought into the Town for the purposes of a competition, 

parade, fair, exhibition, or other similar event, provided those animals are always 
under the care and supervision of a competent person. All other provisions of this 
Bylaw shall still apply.  

 
iii) The regulations of this bylaw shall not apply to Special Event activities under the Town 

of Olds Special Events Bylaw.  
 

55. A police service member shall not be required to obtain a Licence for their service animals.  
  
 Replacement of a Lost Licence  
  

56. Upon losing an Animal Licence, an Owner of an Animal may obtain a Licence replacement for a 
fee as set out in the Town of Olds Rate Bylaw.  

  
Non-Transferable  
  

57. An Animal Licence issued pursuant to this Bylaw is not transferable.  
  
Rebate  
  

58. No Owner shall be entitled to a Licence rebate under this Bylaw.  
  
Service Dog  
  

59. Where an individual with a disability is the Owner of a Service Dog trained and used to assist 
such individual, if that individual provides to the satisfaction of the Town, identification that 
identifies the individual and the individual’s (registered or qualified) Service Dog, then there 
shall be no fee payable by the Owner for a Licence for the registered Service Dog as set out in 
the Town of Olds Rate Bylaw.  

 
Keeping of Dogs and Cats 
 

60. No person shall keep or harbor more than six (6) dogs and six (6) cats on any premises with a 
Municipal address in the Town. This section does not apply:  

  
i) to dogs under the age of six (6) months;  
 
ii) if a person has a valid business Licence and development permit to operate a kennel 

facility, veterinarian clinic or hospital, animal breeding establishment, pet store, 
temporary dog show, humane society, or other similar approved business activity.  

 
 
 
 

28

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 8 of 31 
 

PART 5 
 RESPONSIBLE OWNERSHIP & CONTROL 

 
Animal Care Duties 

 
61. A person who owns or is in charge of an animal: 

 
(a) must ensure that the animal has adequate food and water, 

 
(b) must provide the animal with adequate care when the animal is wounded or ill, 

 
(c) must provide the animal with reasonable protec�on from injurious heat or cold, and 

 
(d) must provide the animal with adequate shelter, ventilation, and space. 

 
Animals in Off-Leash Area 
 

62. Unless a visible sign indicates that the area has been designated as an Off- Leash Area an 
Owner must keep the Owner’s dog on a Leash.   

  
63. An Owner must not allow an Animal other than a dog to enter or remain in an Off- Leash Area.  

   
64. Dogs must be under control in designate off-leash areas.    

  
65. Whether a dog is under control is a question of fact to be determined by a Court hearing a 

prosecution pursuant to this Section of the Bylaw, having taken into consideration any or all 
the following:   

  
i) Whether the dog is at such a distance from its Owner so as to be incapable of 

responding to voice, sound or sight commands;   
 
ii) Whether the dog has responded to voice, sound, or sight commands from the Owner;  
 
iii) Whether the dog has Bitten, Attacked, or done any act that injures a Person or another 

Animal;   
 
iv) Whether the dog chased or otherwise threatened a Person;  
 
v) Whether the dog caused damage to property.   

  
66. An Owner must not have more than 6 dogs off leash in an Off- Leash Area at one time.   

  
67. An Owner who fails to immediately restrain and remove a dog upon it engaging in any of the 

activities listed in Section 84 (threatening behaviour), by restraining the dog on a leash and 
removing the dog from the Off- Leash Area, is guilty of an offence.   

  

29

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 9 of 31 
 

68. No Owner of an Animal in Heat, Animal suffering from rabies or a Vicious Animal shall permit 
the Animal to be in an Off-Leash Area at any time.  
 

69. A Peace Officer may, upon a dog being in Heat or upon the Owner being in contravention of 
any provision of this Bylaw, order the Owner of an off-leash dog, in an Off-Leash Area, to: 

i) restrain the dog by means of a leash; or 
ii) remove the dog from an Off-Leash Area; 
iii) or both. 

  
70. Nothing in this Section relieves a person from complying with any other provisions of this 

Bylaw.  
  
Animals in Prohibited Areas  

  
71. The Owner of an Animal shall ensure that such Animal does not enter or remain in or on:  

  
i) A Playground, any school property play area, Sports Field, Splash Park, Storm Pond, 

Skate Park, Ice rinks; or 
 
ii) any other area where Animals are prohibited by posted signs.   

  
Control of Rabies 
  

72. An Owner of an Animal which is suffering from Rabies shall:  
  

i) Immediately report the matter to the Veterinarian Inspector of the Health or Animals 
Branch of the local office of the Federal department of Agriculture, and Officer or 
designate; and   

 
ii) confine or isolate the Animal, in such a manner as prescribed so as to prevent further 

spread of the disease;  and  
 
iii) not permit the Animal to be in any public place; and  
 
iv) not keep the Animal in contact with or in proximity to any other Animal.  

 
Noise  
  

73. The Owner of an animal must ensure that such Animal does not bark, howl, or otherwise 
make or cause a noise which disturbs any Person.  

 
74. If a complaint regarding noise is made in relation to this Bylaw, it will trigger an 

investigation process by administration which relies on the complainant making a 
statement and recording a “Bark Log” attached in schedule “6.”  

  
75. Whether any noise is excessive to the extent that it justifiably annoys or disturbs a 

person, is a question of fact to be determined by a court hearing and prosecution 
pursuant to this section of the Bylaw.  

30

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 10 of 31 
 

 Removing Excrement  
  

76. If an Animal defecates on any public or private property other than the property of its  
  Owner, the Owner shall remove such feces immediately.  

 
77. The Owner of an Animal shall ensure that feces left by it on the property of the Owner does 

not accumulate to such an extent that it seriously interferes with other property owners’ 
reasonable enjoyment of their property, due to excessive odor and/or unsightliness. 

 
Running at Large 
  

78. All dogs must be on a leash at all times, unless posted signs indicate otherwise, or on property 
where the owner of the dog has the right of occupation.  
 

79. The Owner of an Animal must ensure that their Animal is not Running at Large.   
 

80. Notwithstanding section (78), an Owner of a dog that is not a Vicious Animal is not 
required to have the dog on a leash in a designated Off- Leash Area.   

 
Securing Animals in Vehicles  
  

81. No person shall allow an Animal to be outside of the passenger cab of a motor vehicle on a 
roadway, regardless of whether the motor vehicle is moving or parked, unless the animal is:  

  
i) in a fully enclosed trailer;  
 
ii) in a fully enclosed cargo area of the bed of a motor vehicle;  
 
iii) contained in a ventilated kennel or similar device securely fastened to the cargo bed of 

the motor vehicle; or  
 
iv) securely tethered in such a manner that the Animal is not standing on bare metal, 

cannot jump or be thrown from the motor vehicle, is not in danger of strangulation, 
and cannot reach beyond the outside edges of the motor vehicle.  
 

82. The Owner of an Animal left unattended in a motor vehicle shall ensure:  
 

i) the Animal is restrained in a manner that prevents contact between the Animal and 
any member of the public or other Animal; and  
 

ii) the Animal is not confined in such a manner that places it in a life or health threatening 
situation by exposure to a period of extreme heat or cold, without proper ventilation 
or other protection from such heat or cold.   

 
 Scattering Garbage 
 

83. The Owner of a Dog shall ensure that it does not upset any waste receptacle or scatter garbage 
on public or private property not belonging to the Owner of the Dog. 

31

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 11 of 31 
 

Threatening Behaviors  
  

84. The Owner of any Animal must ensure that such Animal does not:  
  

i) Bark at, Bite, or chase other Animals, Livestock, or other domesticated household 
pets, in a threatening manner; 
 

ii) Bark at, or chase bicycles, motor vehicles or other vehicles;   
 
iii) Growl, lunge, snarl, chase or otherwise threaten a Person or Persons, whether on 

the property of the Owner or not;  
 
iv) Cause damage to property or other Animals, whether on the property of the Owner 

or not;  
 

v) Do any act that injures a Person or Persons, whether on the property of the Owner 
or not;  

 
vi) Bite a Person or Persons, whether on the property of the Owner or not;  

 
vii) Attack a Person or Persons, whether on the property of the Owner or not;   

 
viii) Attack another Animal causing Severe Injury, whether on the property of the Owner 

or not;  
 

ix) Cause death to another Animal; or   
 

x) Attack a Person or Persons, whether on the property of the Owner or not, causing 
Severe Injury.  

  
85. No Owner shall use or direct an Animal to atack, chase, harass or threaten a person, Animal, 

Wildlife, Livestock, or other domes�cated household pets. 
 

PART 6 
URBAN LIVESTOCK  

  
Keeping of Urban Hens  
 

86. No person in an urban area shall keep:  
  

i) a Rooster;  
ii) a hen, other than an Urban Hen for which a valid Licence has been issued; or  
iii) more than six (6) Urban Hens per Property.  

  
87. A person may keep up to six (6) Urban Hens upon:  

  
i) Issuance of Development Permit for a Coop;  
ii) Approval of an Urban Hen Licence application; and  

32

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 12 of 31 
 

iii) Paid an annual Urban Hen Licence fee as set out in the Town of Olds Rate Bylaw.  
  

88. An Urban Hen Licence may be issued or renewed if the Town is satisfied that:  
  

i) the applicant is the owner of the property on which the Urban Hens will be kept; or  
ii) that the owner of the property has provided written consent to the applicant;  
iii) the land use designation of the property on which the Urban Hens will be kept allows 

the placement of a Coop for the keeping of Urban Hens;  
iv) the applicant resides on the property on which the Urban Hens will be kept;  
v) all required information has been provided;  
vi) the applicant has taken a course on the safe handling of hens and eggs, prior to issuance 

of a licence;  
vii) the applicant has registered with Alberta’s Premises Identification Program (PID);  
viii) the applicant has complied with all other Provincial and Federal Regulations for the 

keeping of chickens; and  
ix) the applicable licence fee has been paid.  

  
89. The maximum number of Urban Hen Licences that may be issued shall be one Urban Hen 

Licence per two hundred fifty (250) persons based on the population of the Town of Olds as 
determined in the most recent municipal or federal census.  

  
90. An Urban Hen Licence is valid for the period of January 1 to December 31 of the year in  

which it is issued and must be renewed annually prior to February 28 of each 
subsequent year:  

 
i) Urban Hen Licence fees shall not be reduced or prorated no matter the month of 

purchase; and  
ii) Urban Hen Licence fees shall not be refunded or rebated.   

a. An Urban Hen Licence is not transferable from one person to another.  
  

91. An Urban Hen Licence is not transferable from one property to another except:  
  

i) when a licence holder has moved to a new property within the Town, then:  
ii) the licence holder may apply to transfer the licence; and  
iii) an inspection of the new property must be carried out to determine the licence holder is 

still able to meet all requirements for an Urban Hen Licence at such a property.  
  

92. A person to whom an Urban Hen Licence has been issued shall produce the licence upon  
the demand of an Officer.  

  
93. An Urban Hen Licence may be revoked or may not be renewed by the Town if:  

  
i) the applicant or licence holder does not meet or no longer meets the requirements;  
ii) for an Urban Hen Licence as set out in this Bylaw;  
iii) the applicant or licence holder furnishes false information or misrepresents a Bylaw, fact 

or circumstance required pursuant to this Bylaw;  

33

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 13 of 31 
 

iv) the applicant or licence holder has, in the opinion of the Officer, based on reasonable 
grounds, contravened any part of this Bylaw whether the contravention has been 
prosecuted or not  

v) the applicant or licence holder fails to pay a fine imposed by a court for a contravention 
of this Bylaw or any other applicable Bylaw related to the keeping of animals/livestock;  

vi) the applicant or licence holder fails to pay any fee required by this Bylaw;  
vii) the applicant fails to comply with any applicable Provincial and Federal Regulations for 

the keeping of chickens; or 
viii)  in the opinion of the Town, based on reasonable grounds, it is in the public interest to 

do so.  
  

94. In the case of a refusal or revocation of an Urban Hen Licence, the applicant will be given the 
reasons, in writing, within ten (10) days of the refusal. The revocation or refusal may be 
appealed pursuant to the provisions of this Bylaw.  

  
Responsibilities of Owners Keeping of Urban Hens  
  

95. A person who keeps Urban Hens must:  
 

i) must ensure that Coop size meets the Land Use Bylaw;  
ii) ensure that each Coop is located as a structure within the Land Use Bylaw;  
iii) Always keep each Urban Hen in a Coop or pen, and shall not be free range in the yard;  
iv) provide each Urban Hen with food, water, shelter, light, ventilation, care, and 

opportunities for essential behaviours such as scratching, dustbathing, and roosting, all 
sufficient to maintain the urban hen in good health; 

v) maintain the Coop in good repair and sanitary condition, and free from vermin and 
noxious or offensive smells and substances;  

vi) construct and maintain the Coop to prevent any rodent from harbouring underneath, 
within, or within its walls, and to prevent entrance by any other animal;  

vii) keep a food container and water container in the Coop;  
viii) keep the Coop and pen secured at all times;  
ix) remove leftover feed, trash, and manure in a timely manner;  
x) store feed within a fully enclosed container;  
xi) store manure within a fully enclosed container, and store no more than 85 litres (3 cubic 

feet) of manure at any time;  
xii) remove all other manure not used for composting or fertilizing and dispose of such in 

accordance with Town Bylaws;  
xiii) follow biosecurity procedures outlined by the Canadian Food Inspection Agency to 

reduce potential for disease outbreak; and  
xiv) keep Urban Hens for personal use only. 

 
96. No person who keeps Urban Hens shall:  

  
i) sell manure, meat, or other products except eggs derived from an Urban Hen;  
ii) slaughter any Urban Hen on the property;  
iii) dispose of an Urban Hen except by delivering it to a farm, abattoir, veterinarian, 

or other operation that is lawfully permitted to dispose of such; and  

34

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 14 of 31 
 

iv) keep an Urban Hen in a cage, kennel, or any other form of shelter other than a Coop as 
designated by the Land Use Bylaw.  

 
PART 7 

PROHIBITED ANIMALS 
 
Prohibited Animals  
  

97. Apiculture (beekeeping) or keep an apiary (bees) in any area of the Town of Olds is 
not permitted and shall follow the Bee Act of Alberta 2000 Chapter B-2 as amended.  

 
98. No person shall keep an Animal deemed dangerous or objectionable in the opinion of 

the Medical Officer of Health. 
 

99. No person shall keep Pigeons in any area of the Town of Olds for any purpose.   
 

100. No person shall keep a prohibited animal(s), as outlined in Schedule “2”, unless  
authorized by the Town in writing. The Town shall specify the number of Animals permitted, 
including any other conditions with such authorization and must obtain a valid prohibited 
animal licence, as outlined in Town of Olds Rate Bylaw:  

 
i) The Owner of a prohibited animal is guilty of an offence if they fail to comply with the 

written conditions specified by the Town pursuant to this bylaw.  
ii) Prohibited animals are permitted within the Town of Olds if they are involved in 

a competition, parade, fair, exhibition, zoo, or other similar event, provided that prior 
written permission is obtained from the Town, and the animals are always kept secure 
and under control of a competent person.  

 
101. No person shall keep or harbor any animal defined as “Livestock” unless the person holds 

a development permit that authorizes such activities. 
  

102. The Town, may give written notice to the Owner of a prohibited animal, specifying that  
the Animal(s) be removed from the Town by a specified date.  

 
i) The Owner of a prohibited Animal is guilty of an offence if they fail to remove the prohibited 

Animal by the date specified by a Peace Officer.  
 

PART 8 
VICIOUS ANIMALS 

  
Hearing and Order  
  

103. An Animal may be declared to be a Vicious Animal by the Officer or designate:  
  

i) The Owner of an Animal alleged to be a Vicious Animal shall be provided a Notice of 
the animal being deemed vicious. The Notice shall set out the reasons and the process 
of appeal to the Animal Owner;  
 

35

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 15 of 31 
 

ii) The Officer or designate may order the Owner of an Animal alleged to be a Vicious 
Animal to surrender the Animal to a Peace Officer and the Animal shall be taken and 
held in an Animal Shelter at the Owner’s cost pending the outcome of the Hearing and 
any appeals; or  
 

iii) The Officer or designate may allow the Owner to keep possession of an Animal alleged 
to be a Vicious Animal, pending the outcome of the Hearing and any related appeals, 
with contain and control conditions, which in the opinion of the Officer or designate, 
ensures the safety of the public.  

 
104. Upon hearing the evidence, the CAO may make an order declaring the Animal to be a  

Vicious Animal or order the Animal destroyed, or both, if in the opinion of the CAO the Animal 
is likely to cause serious damage or injury to persons, property or other animals, Wildlife, 
Livestock, or other domesticated household pets, considering the following factors:  

 
i) whether the Animal, when unprovoked, has shown a tendency to pursue, chase or 

approach in a menacing fashion any person or persons or other Animal, Wildlife, 
Livestock or other domesticated household pets upon the street, sidewalk or on any 
public or private property;  

 
ii) whether the Animal has attempted to Bite, or has bitten any person or Animal, 

Wildlife, Livestock, or other domesticated household pets;  
 

iii) whether the Animal has injured, attacked, or caused Severe Injury to any person or 
Animal, Wildlife, Livestock, or other domesticated household pets;  

 
iv) the Aggression Scale Classification made by a Peace Officer pursuant to Schedule 3;  

 
v) the circumstances surrounding any previous biting, attacking, or injuring incidents; 

and  
 

vi) whether the Animal has caused death to another Animal, Wildlife, Livestock, or 
other domesticated household pet.  

  
105. A Vicious Animal order pursuant to this Bylaw continues to apply if the Animal is sold,  

given, or transferred to a new Owner and the new Owner must be made aware of the  
order.  

  
106. The Owner of a Vicious or dangerous Animal must immediately notify the Officer or designate 

upon relocating in the Town. The Officer or designate may take cognizance of an order issued 
in another jurisdiction and direct that the order applies within the Town.  

  
107. The Owner of an Animal alleged to be a Vicious Animal shall comply with a surrender  

order made by the Officer or designate, any contain, and control conditions prescribed  
by the CAO, Officer, or designate or Justice pursuant to this bylaw.  

  
Vicious Dog Regulations  
  

36

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 16 of 31 
 

108. The Owner of a Vicious Animal shall within five (5) days after the Animal has been  
declared vicious by a CAO or Justice:  

  
i) have a licenced veterinarian tattoo or implant an electronic identification microchip 

in or on the Vicious Animal identifying the Animal with a unique identifier to the 
Animal; 

 
ii) provide the information contained on the tattoo or in the microchip to an Officer; 

and 
 

iii) have the Vicious Animal spayed or neutered if such a procedure has not yet been 
carried out on the Animal.  

  
109. The Owner of a Vicious Animal shall:  

  
i) forthwith notify an Officer should the Vicious Animal be sold, gifted, or transferred 

to another person or die; and  
 
ii) remain liable for the actions of the Vicious Animal until formal notification of sale, 

gift, or transfer is given to an Officer.  
  

110. With regards to the behavior of a Vicious Animal, the Owner of a Vicious Animal shall:  
  

i) ensure that such Vicious Animal does not engage in any threatening behaviors 
prohibited by this Bylaw;  

 
ii) ensure that such Vicious Animal does not damage or destroy public or private 

property;  
 

iii) ensure that such Vicious Animal is not Running at Large; and  
 

iv) forthwith notify an Officer of the Vicious Animal Running at Large in the event of 
escape.  

  
111. The Owner of a Vicious Animal shall ensure that when such Vicious Animal is confined  

indoors on the property of the Owner and such Vicious Animal is:  
 

i) under the control of a person eighteen (18) years of age or older.  
  

112. The Owner of a Vicious Animal shall ensure that when such Vicious Animal is confined  
outdoors on the property of the Owner such Vicious Animal is:  

 
a) in a locked pen or other structure, constructed to prevent the escape of the Vicious 

Animal, and capable of preventing the entry of any person not in control of the Vicious 
Animal. The locked pen or structure shall:  
 

37

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 17 of 31 
 

i) have secure sides and a secure top, and if it has no bottom secured to the sides, the 
sides must be embedded in the ground to a minimum depth of thirty (30) 
centimeters;  

ii) provide the Vicious Animal with shelter from the elements;  
iii) be of the minimum dimensions of one and one-half (1.5) meters by three (3) meters 

and be a minimum one and one-half (1.5) meters in height; and  
iv) not be within one (1) meter of the property line or within five (5) meters of a 

neighbouring dwelling unit.  
 

b) Securely muzzled, and under the control of a person eighteen (18) years of age or older 
by means of a Leash not exceeding one (1) meter in length in a manner that prevents it 
from being in contravention of this Bylaw.  

  
113. The Owner of a Vicious Animal shall always ensure that, when off the property of the  

Owner, such Vicious Animal is securely:  
 

i) muzzled;  
 

ii) harnessed or leashed on a lead, which length shall not exceed one (1) meter in a 
manner that prevents it from being in contravention of this Bylaw, as well as 
preventing damage to public and private property; and  
 

iii) under the control of a person eighteen (18) years of age or older.  
  

114. The Owner of a Vicious Animal shall, within five (5) days of the date of the order declaring the 
Animal to be vicious, display a sign on his premise warning of the presence of the Vicious 
Animal in the form illustrated in Schedule “5”:  

 
i) The sign shall be placed at each entrance to the premises where the Vicious Animal is 

kept and, on the pen, or other structure in which the Vicious Animal is confined;  
 

ii) The sign shall be posted to be clearly visible and capable of being seen by any person 
accessing the premises; and  
 

iii) Sign purchase is the responsibility of the Vicious Animal owner.  
 
No�ce to Contain and Control 
 

115. The Officer or designate may allow an Owner to keep possession of an Animal 
alleged to have been engaged in any threa�ng behavior as set out in this Bylaw by 
serving no�ce with contain and control condi�ons which, in the opinion of the Officer or 
designate, ensures the safety of the public. 

 
116. The contain and control condi�ons shall be reviewed annually by the Officer or 

designate, considering any further contraven�ons of this Bylaw, and may be con�nued, 
revised, or revoked. 

 
117. The Owner of an Animal shall comply with contain and control condi�ons set out in a 

38

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 18 of 31 
 

notice issued by the Officer or designate pursuant to this section. 
 
Aggression Scale Classifica�on 
 

118. An Officer inves�ga�ng a complaint involving the threatening behavior of an Animal 
shall classify the behavior by means of reference to the Dr. Ian Dunbar’s Aggression 
Scale, as set out in Schedule “3” of this Bylaw. 

 
Seizure 
 

119. A Peace Officer may seize, retain, and take to an Animal Shelter any Animal, or Vicious Animal: 
 

i) which is found Running at Large; 
 

ii) which is alleged to have engaged in any threatening behaviors as set out in this Bylaw; 
 

iii) pending the outcome of an applica�on to declare the Animal to be a Vicious Animal or 
to destroy the Animal; 

 
iv) which is required to be impounded pursuant to the provisions of any Statue of Canada, 

or of the Province of Alberta, or any Regula�on made thereunder; or 
 

v) which has been le� unsupervised while tethered or �ed on private property not owned 
by the Animal’s Owner; and 

 
vi) Animal’s owner shall be responsible for all fees associated to the animal being 

impounded. 
 

120. An Officer may enter onto any property surrounding any building, whether such property is 
enclosed by a fence or other such enclosure and seize any Animal which has been observed 
Running at Large and is alleged to have been exhibi�ng threatening behavior as set out in this 
Bylaw and to take such reasonable measures necessary to subdue any such Animal, including 
the use of tranquilizer equipment and other capture devices. 

 
Obstruc�on and Interference 
 

121. No person, whether that person is the Owner of an Animal, or Vicious Animal which is being or 
has been pursued or seized shall: 

 
i) interfere with or atempt to obstruct a Peace Officer who is atemp�ng to seize or who 

has seized an Animal which is subject to seizure; 
 

ii) open any vehicle in which seized animals have been placed; or 
 

iii) remove, or atempt to remove, from the possession of a Peace Officer, any Animal 
which has been seized. 

 
122. No person shall: 

39

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 19 of 31 
 

 
i)  un�e, loosen, or otherwise free an Animal which has been �ed or otherwise 

restrained; 
 

ii) negligently or willfully open a gate, door or other opening in a fence or enclosure in 
which an Animal has been confined and thereby allow the Animal to run at large in the 
Town of Olds; 
 

iii) en�ce an Animal to Run at Large; 
 

iv) tease an Animal caught or confined in an enclosed space; 
 

v) throw or poke any object into an enclosed space when an Animal is caught or confined 
therein; 
 

vi) provide false informa�on to an Officer. 
 

123. The above sec�ons shall not apply to an Officer who is atemp�ng to seize or who has seized 
an Animal which is subject pursuant to this Bylaw. 

 
No�fica�on to Owner 
 

124. If an Officer knows or can ascertain the name of the Owner of any seized Animal, 
he shall serve the Owner with a copy of the No�ce in Schedule “4” of this Bylaw, either 
personally, or by leaving it with any adult person at, or by mailing it to or by leaving it at, 
the last known address of the Owner: 

 
a.  An Owner of an Animal to whom a No�ce is mailed is deemed to have received a 

No�ce within seven (7) days from the date it is mailed. A No�ce personally 
delivered to the Owner or any adult person at the last known address of the 
Owner shall be deemed to be served on the day of service. 

 
Reclaiming 
 

125. The Owner of any seized Animal, or Vicious Animal may reclaim the Animal, or Vicious Animal 
by:  

 
i) paying to the Town the costs of impoundment, any care, subsistence, or veterinary 

charges incurred as set out in Town of Olds Rate Bylaw; 
 

ii) obtaining the licence for such Animal, and Vicious Animal where a licence is required 
pursuant to this bylaw; and 
 

iii) complying with any all provisions which may by imposed in accordance with this Bylaw. 
 

126. Where an Animal, or Vicious Animal is claimed, the Owner shall provide proof of 
ownership. 

40

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 20 of 31 
 

Inspections 
 

127. Subject to the entry no�ce provisions of the Municipal Government Act, R.S.A. 2000 c.M-26, an 
Officer of the Town, bearing proper iden�fica�on, may enter a premises to conduct an 
inspec�on in order to determine whether or not this Bylaw or an order issued pursuant to this 
Bylaw is being complied with and, where it is determined that this Bylaw or an order has been 
contravened, may, seize and remove from the premises an Animal: 

  
i) No person shall interfere with or atempt to obstruct a Peace Officer who is atemp�ng 

to conduct an inspec�on or seizure of an Animal. 

Appeal 

128. The Owner of an Animal who has received a no�ce that their Dog is declared a Vicious Dog 
pursuant to Part 8 of this bylaw, or their Licence has been refused or revoked pursuant to this 
Bylaw within fourteen (14) days a�er the date the decision was communicated to the Person or 
Owner respec�vely, may by writen no�ce request the Chief Administra�ve Officer to review the 
decision. A�er reviewing the decision, the Chief Administra�ve Officer may confirm, contrast, 
add to, or cancel the decision.  

 
PART 9 

AUTHORITY 
 
Authority of the Officer (or designate) 
 

129. The Peace Officer or designate, shall not sell, euthanize, or otherwise dispose of a 
seized Animal un�l an Animal is retained for: 

 
i) Ten (10) days a�er the Owner has received no�ce or is deemed to have received 

no�ce that the Animal has been seized; or 
 

ii) Seventy-two (72) hours, if the name and address of the Owner is not known: and 
 

iii) The Officer may retain a seized Animal for a longer period if in his opinion the 
circumstances warrant the expense or there are reasonable grounds to believe that 
the seized Animal is a con�nued danger to a person, Animal, Wildlife, Livestock, or 
other domes�cated household pets, or property. 

 
Euthanizing Due to Injury 
 

130. At the expira�on of the seventy-two (72) hour period, the Town is authorized to; 
i) Surrender the animal to a Licenced adop�on facility such as a Humane Society or SPCA. 
ii) Con�nue to impound the animal for an indefinite period or such further period of �me 

as a Peace Officer, in his or her discre�on, may decide. The owner will be liable to pay 
the Town all costs incurred by the Town under this Bylaw in respect of such ac�ons; or 

iii) Destroy the animal in a humane manner. 
 

131. Any veterinarian, being properly and fully qualified as required by the province of 

41

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 21 of 31 
 

Alberta, may destroy any Animal delivered to the veterinarian a�er injury to the Animal, 
providing the injury is determined by the veterinarian to be such serious nature, based 
upon their professional opinion, that the Animal must be destroyed immediately and such 
costs of the destruc�on may be billed to the Town, and the Town is at liberty to take all 
steps considered necessary to recover such costs from the Owner of the Animal. 

 
Fee for Euthanizing 
 

132. When the Officer or designate, decides to euthanize a seized Animal pursuant to this Bylaw, 
the Owner shall pay to the Town of Olds, Veterinary fees as set out in the Town of Olds Rate 
Bylaw.  

Require Spay/Neuter 

133. The Peace Officer may, before selling an unclaimed seized Animal, require that the Animal be 
spayed or neutered. 

 
Full Right and Title 
 

134. The purchaser of a seized Animal pursuant to the provisions of this Bylaw shall obtain full right 
and �tle to the Animal and the right and �tle of the Former Owner of the Animal shall cease 
thereupon.   

 
  

PART 10 
EXEMPTIONS 

 
135. Nothing in this Bylaw shall apply to: 

 
i) Officers ac�ng in accordance with their official employment du�es; or 
ii) A Town Employee ac�ng in accordance with their official employment du�es. 

 
 PART 11 

ENFORCEMENT AND OFFENCES 
 
Enforcement  
 

136. A Peace Officer is hereby authorized and empowered to issue a Notice, Municipal Violation 
Ticket to any Person who the Peace Officer has reasonable and probable grounds to believe 
has contravened any provision of this Bylaw. The Peace Officer may commence proceedings 
against such Person.  
  

137. Municipal Violation Tickets and Violation Tickets will be issued in accordance with the 
Provincial Offences Act and the Town’s General Penalty Bylaw.  

  
Continuing Offence  
  

42

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 22 of 31 
 

138. In the case of an offence that is of a continuing nature, a contravention of a provision of this 
Bylaw constitutes a separate offence with respect to each day, or part of a day, during which 
the contravention continues, and a person guilty of such an offence is liable to a fine in an 
amount not less than that established by this Bylaw for each such separate offence.  
   

Fines and Penalties  
 

139. Any person who contravenes any provision of this Bylaw is guilty of an offence and liable on 
summary conviction to a fine of not more than TWO THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED DOLLARS 
($2500.00) and not less than FIFTY ($50.00).   
  

i) The specified fines for an office committed pursuant to this bylaw are set out in the 
attached Schedule “1”.  

  
Interference With Duties  
  

140. It is an offence to interfere, obstruct, or hinder any person authorized by the Town, including 
Officers and other authorized persons, in the exercise or performance of the person’s powers 
pursuant to this bylaw.  

  
Recovery of Enforcement Costs  
  

141. The expenses and costs incurred by the Town in the enforcement of this bylaw may be 
collected as a civil debt that is the subject of the enforcement proceedings under this bylaw.  

  
Miscellaneous  
  

142. Nothing in this bylaw relieves a person from complying with any federal, provincial, or 
municipal law or regulation, other bylaw or any requirements of any lawful permit, order, 
consent, or other direction.  

  
143. Where this bylaw refers to another act, regulation, or agency, it includes reference to any act, 

regulation, or agency that may be substituted.  
  

PART 12 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 

Severability  
 

144. If any provision of these bylaws shall be held invalid or unenforceable, the invalidity or 
unenforceability shall attach only to that provision and shall not in any manner affect or render 
invalid or unenforceable any other provision, and these bylaws shall be interpreted and enforced 
as if the invalid or unenforceable provision were not contained herein. 

 
Effective Date  
 

145. This Bylaw shall come into effect at such time as it has received third reading and has been 
signed in accordance with the Municipal Government Act RSA 2000 C M-26, as amended from 
time to time.   

43

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 23 of 31 
 

READINGS 
 
Read for the first time on the 12th day of February 2024.   
 
Read for a second time on the ____ day of _________ 2024.  
 
Read for a third and final time on the ____day of ___________ 2024.  
  
 
SIGNATURE LINE   
  
 
 
 
 
________________________________   ___________________________________  
Judy Dahl,       Brent Williams,  
Mayor        Chief Administrative Officer  
  
 
 
SIGNED by the Chief Elected Official and the Chief Administrative Officer this ____ day of _____, 2024.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

44

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 24 of 31 
 

SCHEDULE “1” 
FINES AND PENALTIES 

 
 
Unless otherwise noted all offences of the Community Standards Bylaw have the following 
specified penalties.  
  

Penalty in lieu of 
Prosecution (PLP)  

1st   
Offence  

2nd  
Offence  

3rd  
Offence   

$125  $250  $500  $750  
  
  
SPECIFIC PENALTIES ARE AS FOLLOWS:  
  
Part   Section  PLP  1st Offence 2nd Offence 3rd Offence 

4  48  $250  $500  $1000  $1500  
4  49  $250  $500  $1000  $1500 
5  61  $250  $500  $1000  $1500 
5  62-71  $250  $500  $1000  $1500 
5  72  $500  $1000  $2000  $2500 
5  76-82  $250  $500  $1000  $1500 
5  84-85  $500  $1000  $2000  $2500 
7  97-102  $250  $500  $1000  $1500 
8  105-117 $500  $1000  $2000  $2500 
8  122  $500  $1000  $2000  $2500 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

45

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 25 of 31 
 

SCHEDULE “2” 
PROHIBITED ANIMALS 

 
1. All protected or endangered animals whose possession or sale is prohibited because they are designated 

as protected or endangered pursuant to interna�onal, federal, or provincial law, unless the animal has 
been obtained in accordance with interna�onal, federal, or provincial law. 
 

2. All dogs, other than domes�cated dogs (Canis Familiaris) including but not limited to 
       wolf, coyote, fox, hyena, dingo, jackal, raccoon dog, bush dog, and any hybrid offspring 
       of a wild dog and a domes�cated dog. 
 

3. All cats, other than domes�cated cats (Felis Catus) including but not limited to lion, �ger, 
leopard, ocelot, jaguar, puma, panther, mountain lion, cheetah, wild cat, cougar, bobcat, 
lynx, serval, and any hybrid offspring of a wild cat and a domes�cated cat. 

 
4. All bears. 

 
5. All fur bearing animals of the family Mustelidae including but not limited to weasel, 

marten, mink, badger, ermine, skunk, oter, pole cat, wolverine, but not including the 
domes�c ferret (Putorius Furo). 

 
6. All Procyonidae including raccoon, kinkajou, cacomistle, cat-bear, panda, and 

coa�mundi. 
 

7. All carnivorous mammals of the family Viverridae including but not limited to: civet, 
mongoose, and genet. 

 
8. All bats. 
 
9. All non-human primates. 
 
10. All squirrels. 
 
11. All rats, including the Norway rat. 
 
12. Rep�les (Rep�lia): 
 

a. All Heloderma�dae (Gila monster and Mexican bearded lizard); 
 

b. All front-fanged venomous snakes, even if de-venomized, including, but not limited to: 
 

i) All Viperidae (viper, pit viper); 
 
ii) All Elapidae (cobra, mamba, krait, coral snake); 
 
iii) All Atractaspididae (African burrowing asp); 
 

46

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 26 of 31 
 

iv)  All Hydrophiidae (sea snake); and 
 
v) All La�caudidae (sea krait). 
 
vi) All venomous, mid-, or rear-fanged, Duvernoy-glanded members of the 
family Colubridae, even if de-venomized; 

 
c.   Any member or hybrid offspring of the family Boidae, including but not limited to 

the common or green anaconda and yellow anaconda, save and except 
members of the family Boidae reaching an adult length of no greater than two (2) 
meters; 

 
d.   Any member of the family Pythonidae, including but not limited to the African rock 

python, the Indian or Burmese python, the Amethys�ne or scrub python, save 
and except members of the family Pythonidae reaching an adult length of no 
greater than two (2) meters; 

 
e.   Any member of the family Varanidaew, including but not limited to the white 

throated monitor, the water monitor, the Komodo monitor or dragon, the Bomean 
earless monitor, the Nile monitor, the crocodile monitor, save and except 
members of the family Varanidae reaching an adult length of no greater than one 
meter; 
 

d. Any member of the family Iguanidae, including the green or common iguana; 
 

e. Any member of the family Teiidae, including but not limited to the golden, 
common, or black and white tegu; 

 
h.  Members of the family Chelydridae, including snapping turtle and alligator 

snapping turtle; 
 
i.   All members of the order Crocodylia, including, but not limited to alligator, 

caiman, and crocodile; 
 
j.  All other snakes that reach an adult length larger than three meters; and 
 
k. All other lizards that reach an adult length larger than two meters. 

 
13. Birds (Aves) 
 

a. All predatory or large birds (Accipitrids, Cathar�ds), including but not limited to eagle, hawk, 
falcon, owl, vulture, and condor; 

 
b. Anseriformes including but not limited to ducks, geese, and swans; 

 
c. Galliformes including but not limited to pheasants, grouse, guinea fowl and turkeys; and 

 

47

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 27 of 31 
 

d. Struthioniformes including but not limited to flightless ra�tes such as ostriches, rheas, 
cassowaries, emus, and kiwis; 
 

e. Subsec�ons (a) to (d) inclusive in subsec�on do not apply if the birds are kept as livestock on 
land zoned as agricultural. 

 
14. All large rodents (Roden�a), including, but not limited to gopher, muskrat, paca, 
       groundhog, marmot, beaver, prairie dog, viscacha, and porcupine. 
 
15. All even-toed ungulates (Ar�odactyla) other than domes�c sheep, including but 
     not limited to antelope, giraffe, and hippopotamus. 
 
16. All odd-toed ungulates (Perissodactyla), including but not limited to zebra, 
      rhinoceros, and tapir. 
 
17. All marsupials, including but not limited to, Tasmanian devil, bandicoot, 
      kangaroo, wallaby, opossum, wombat, koala bear, cuscus, numbat, and pigmy, 
      sugar, and greater glider. 
 
18. Sea mammals (Cetacea, Pinnipedia and Sirenia), including but not limited to, 
      dolphin, whale, seal, sea lion and walrus. 
 
19. All elephants (Proboscides). 
 
20. All hyrax (Hyracoidea). 
 
21. All pangolin (Pholidota). 
 
22. All sloth and armadillo (Edentala). 
 
23. All insec�vorous mammals (Insec�vora), including aardvark (Tubulidentata), 
      anteater, shrew, oter shrew and mole. 
 
24. Gliding lemur (Dermoptera). 
 
25. All other venomous or poisonous animals. 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

48

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 28 of 31 
 

SCHEDULE “3” 
DR. IAN DUNBAR’S AGGRESSION SCALE 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

49

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 29 of 31 
 

SCHEDULE “4” 
ANIMAL SEIZURE AND IMPOUNDMENT FORM 

 
 
 

Take notice that 20

1 4
2 5
3 6

Other:

the animal(s) may placed for adoption, given away, or in accordance with with the bylaw, destroyed.

Signature of Peace Officer

If the animal(s) is/are not claimed or the payment of expenses is not made by, 

Reason for animal(s) to be taken into custody:

The animal(s) was/were delivered to:

Olds, AB T4H 1R5

Phone: (403) 507-4859

Veterinary Clinic: ________________________________________ 

4512 46 Street

Bylaw and amendments et al, the following animal(s) was/were taken into custody:

Town of Olds

By: Peace Officer                                                                                           Reg#

Municipal Enforcement
Notice of Seizure/Impoundment of Animal or Urban Hen

File Number:

, under the Town of Olds Community Standards

 
 
 
 
 

50

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 30 of 31 
 

SCHEDULE “5” 
VICIOUS ANIMAL SIGN 

 
Required for a Vicious Animal pursuant to the Bylaw. 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

51

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 31 of 31 
 

 

SCHEDULE ‘6’ 
BARK LOG 

 

The ‘Barking Dog Log’ Is available on the Town of Olds website www.olds.ca or by contacting 
the Municipal Enforcement Department at 587-796-1193. 

 

The Barking Dog Log is in reference to a grievance reported to the Town of Olds regarding a barking 
dog(s).  Once completed, this record will be kept on file at the Town of Olds.  

There is no guarantee a summons will be issued.  The grievance will ini�ally be dealt with at an 
educa�onal and warning level, based on overall circumstances. The decision to issue a summons will be 
at the discre�on of the Community Peace Officer. 
 
If further ac�on is required, this record may be required when issuing a summons to the dog-owner or 
dog-caregiver on your behalf.  If the file is taken to Court, your appearance in Court will be required to 
state for the record that this is your tes�mony.   

DOG BARKING LOG  
DATE  START 

TIME  
STOP TIME  REMARKS (ie: dog in 

yard/on deck/ at fence etc.)  

    

  

 

 

    

 

THIS IS A SAMPLE OF THE DOG BARKING LOG. 

52

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024

http://www.olds.ca/


Animal Bylaw: 2nd Reading
February 26th, 2024 

Protective Services

53

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Purpose

The creation of a stand-alone Animal Bylaw 
will aid in promoting the well-being of 
animals, ensuring public safety, fostering 
responsible pet ownership, and enable easier 
navigation of bylaws for citizens.

It will assist Community Peace Officers in the following ways:

• It will address commonly occurring offences or those that are not 
covered by other legislations such as the Animal Protection Act, 
amongst others.

• It will allow Officers to apply a range of options to gain compliance, 
educate the public, and promote respectful and responsible pet 
ownership.

• It will allow the Municipality to set fees and address local issues.

54

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024

Presenter Notes
Presentation Notes
Please provide context for numbers, is this higher or lower than last quarter? Same place/pace as last year?



What We Heard From Council 
Private Animal Control 

• Administration will investigate the potential of private animal control options and 
report back with availability and cost. 

Lifetime Animal Licenses
• Create a fee structure to incentivize bylaw compliance and responsible ownership.

Stray/Abandoned Animals
• The Town will not take responsibility for stray or abandoned animals but will 

continue to promote foster homes and/or agencies that will accept animals in need 
of placement.

Animals in Prohibited Areas
• Clarification that animals on leashes are allowed on trails and spectating areas.

55

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Animal Licenses/ 
Number of Animals Per Household 

To encourage responsible pet ownership, Municipal Enforcement proposes the following:
 

Lifetime dog license to be 
obtained by owner within twelve 
(12) months of age of the dog.

Raising the number of dogs per 
household to six (6).

Lifetime cat license structure

By increasing allowable animal ownership, combined with a ‘lifetime’ dog license, it is hoped that we will increase registered dogs and therefore address the issue of unregistered animals in town.

Discounts applied with proof of 
vaccination, spay/neutering, and 
microchipping to encourage 
responsible ownership.

56

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Animal Licenses/
Number of Animals Per Household Continued

The initial lifetime license fee amount is proposed to start at $400 and would decrease 
depending on documentation provided by owner.

Dog License Incentive Structure

Proof of Spay/Neutering -$100

Proof of Tattoo/Microchip -$100

Proof of Vaccinations -$100

Total Lifetime Fee $100

Cat License Incentive Structure

Proof of Spay/Neutering -$100

Proof of Tattoo/Microchip -$100

Proof of Vaccinations -$100

Total Lifetime Fee $100

*Current registrations would be grandfathered into the program*

57

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Stray & Abandoned Animals
Proposed Service Level
• The Town will not chase, capture, or hold 

abandoned animals. 

• The Town will advertise for and maintain an 
inventory of potential foster homes and will 
connect residents who have captured a stray with 
those foster homes.

58

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Animals in Prohibited Areas
• No changes from current bylaw.

• Pets are prohibited on Sports fields, such as ball 
diamonds or soccer fields.

• On-leash pets are permitted in the viewing and walking 
areas of Sports fields.

59

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Other Matters
Regional Efforts
Administration will keep a dialogue open with other municipalities on potential future 
partnerships.

Shelter Space
Liaising and relationship building with local shelters and vets will continue to ensure we 
have options during emergent situations and are able to share the best information with 
residents with stray animal concerns.

Animal Maximums

The proposed maximums for pet ownership remain 6 dogs and 6 cats.

60

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Questions and Discussion

61

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



 

Page 1 of 2 

  
RFD – Bylaw 2024-12 

Request for Decision 

Bylaw No. 2024-12 – Amendment to Land Use Bylaw 

February 26, 2024    
 

RECOMMENDATION 

That Bylaw No. 2024-12 (Amendment to Land Use Bylaw 01-23) be given first reading as presented. 
 
That Monday, March 25, 2024, at 1:00pm in Council Chambers at 4512 46 Street in Olds, be set as the 
date, time, and place for a Public Hearing on Bylaw No. 2024-12. 

STRATEGIC ALIGNMENT 

In Council’s Strategic Plan for 2022-2032, the second strategic goal is: “The Olds community is supported 
and enabled through skillful governance.” 

LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY 

1. Municipal Government Act – Chapter M-26, Part 17, Division 5 Section 640(1) every municipality 
must pass a Land Use Bylaw. 

2. Municipal Government Act – Chapter M-26, Part 5, Division 9, Section 191(1) the power to pass a 
bylaw…includes a power to amend or repeal the bylaw. 

BACKGROUND  

The Town has received an application to change the designation of the parcel located at 5200 58 Street 
(Lot 1, Block 2, Plan 1612209) from Urban Reserve (UR) to Manufactured Home District (R4) to 
accommodate a new residential development of prefabricated, factory built dwelling units. This change is 
presented as an amendment to the Land Use Bylaw 01-23. 
 
This parcel is located within the Uptowne Olds Area Redevelopment Plan (ARP). The land use concept map 
in the ARP identifies this parcel for future “medium to high density residential” development while Policy 
4.2.2 states that “medium to high density housing is envisioned north of 54 Street and low density housing 
south of 54 Street.” Neither the concept map nor the policy specifies a land use district, but Administration 
considers the R4 district to appropriately align with both of these considerations, as expected densities 
are in between the Town’s low density (R1) and medium density (R3) land use districts. 

 
FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS   ☐ Operating  ☐ Capital ☒ Not Applicable 
Details: N/A 
 
KEY MESSAGES 

This request for decision pertains solely to the land use designation of the parcel. Specific details for the 
development will be considered as part of a Development Agreement and a full development permit 
review process will still be required. The Town of Olds is committed to working with developers to ensure 
that housing needs are met through sustainable and responsible development efforts.  

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Site Context Map 

62

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



 

Page 2 of 2 

2. Uptowne Olds ARP Land Use Concept Map 
3. Land Use Bylaw – R4 District 
4. Rationale Letter Provided by Applicant 
5. Draft Bylaw 2024-12 

 

Approved By: James Crozier  Date: Feb. 20, 2024 

CAO Review: Brent Williams  Date: 21 Feb 2024 

 
 

63

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



0.5

THIS MAP IS NOT TO BE USED FOR NAVIGATION

WGS_1984_Web_Mercator_Auxiliary_Sphere

Kilometers0.5

Notes

© Town of Olds

Legend

This map is a user generated static output from an Internet mapping site and is for

reference only. Data layers that appear on this map may or may not be accurate,

current, or otherwise reliable.

0.250

1: 10,000

5200 58 Street
64

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



UPTOWNE OLDS AREA REDEVELOPMENT PLAN  

 

11  
 

65

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



SCHEDULE C 

 

Town of Olds Land Use Bylaw 01-23                                                                                                      89 
 

MANUFACTURED HOME DISTRICT (R4) 
 
General Purpose:   To provide an area for and to regulate the development and use of 

land for manufactured homes, and other uses, herein listed, which 
are compatible with a residential area, either on separately 
registered parcels or in comprehensively designed parks and 
subdivisions.  The area is to be connected to municipal sewer and 
water systems. 

 
Permitted Uses: Day home facility – limited  [2008-07] 
 Home occupations – Class 1 [2008-07] 
     Manufactured homes 

Manufactured home park 
Manufactured home subdivision 
Accessory residential buildings/structures 

 
Discretionary Uses: Home occupations – Class 2 [2008-07] 

 All discretionary uses found in the R1 District, 
Any use that is similar, in the opinion of the development authority, 
to the permitted or discretionary uses described above. 

  
In this District, 
 

"lot" means the total area of land reserved for the placement of a manufactured home 
and for the exclusive use of its occupant(s); 
"structure" means a subordinate building which is an addition to or supplements the 
facilities provided by a manufactured home, such as awnings, storage structures, 
carports, porches and skirting. 

 
(1) Manufactured Home Park Standards 
 
Maximum Gross Density: 17 manufactured homes per hectare (7 per acre) 
 

Minimum Park Area:  2 hectares (5 acres) 
 

Minimum Lot Area:  278.5 m² (2,998 ft2) 
 

Maximum Lot Coverage: 55% 
 

Minimum Yard Requirements: Manufactured homes and their attached structures shall be at 
least: 

 
i) 3 m (9.84 ft) from one another   [Bylaw 2007-29] 
 

ii) 8 m (26 ft) from any park boundary 
 

iii) 3 m (9.84 ft) from any internal access road or common parking 
area 

 

iv) 1.2 m (4 ft) from any side lot line 
 

v) 3 m (9.84 ft) from any rear lot line, in accordance with an 
overall plan for the manufactured home park. 

 
Minimum Manufactured Home Floor Area:   85 m² (915 ft2)  
     

Minimum Manufactured Home Width:  4.25 m (14 ft)     

66

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



SCHEDULE C 

 

Town of Olds Land Use Bylaw 01-23                                                                                                      90 
 

Recreation Area:   A minimum of 5% of the total area of a manufactured home park 
shall be set aside in a suitable location as a recreation area. 

 

Playground apparatus or other recreation facilities shall be 
provided in accordance with a recreation site plan approved by the 
development authority. 

  
Landscaped Areas: All areas of a manufactured home park not developed or occupied 

by park roads, walkways, driveways, parking aprons, buildings or 
other developed facilities, including paved playgrounds, shall be 
landscaped.  A manufactured home park shall have on its 
perimeter a landscaped area not less than 3 m (10 ft) in width 
between any manufactured home lot and a boundary line of the 
development.  This buffer shall not comprise part of the 5% 
recreation area requirement. 

 
Roads:     All mobile home park roads shall have at least a 12 m (39 ft) right-

of-way and a carriageway no less than 8 m (26 ft) in width. 
 
Walkways:    Internal pedestrian walkways, where provided, shall be a minimum 

of 1.5 m (5 ft) in width. 
 
Storage Areas:  Common storage areas, separate from the manufactured home lot, 

shall be provided for storage of seasonal recreational equipment 
not capable of storage on the manufactured home lot. 
Such storage areas shall be screened. 
Such storage areas shall have an area of not less than 20 m² (215 
ft2) per mobile home lot. 

 
Utilities:    All utility services and all utility wires and conduits shall be installed 

underground. 
 
Fences and Lot Lines: Fences and hedges shall be allowed only if they are erected and 

maintained by the manufactured home park operator to a uniform 
standard throughout the manufactured home park. 

 
All lot lines shall be clearly defined on the ground by permanent 
flush sakes, or markers, with a lot number or other address system. 

 
Garbage Storage:   Garbage storage shall 

 (a) be prohibited in front yards, and 
(b) be screened from view from any internal access road 

 
Building Design:   All manufactured homes shall be factory built. 

Skirting or any attached structure shall be factory built with 
matching exterior finish, or be of durable all-weather construction 
and designed in a manner that will enhance the appearance of the 
manufactured home development. 
Each manufactured home shall be levelled, blocked and skirted, 
and the hitch removed within 30 days of being placed on a lot. 

 
 

67

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



SCHEDULE C 

 

Town of Olds Land Use Bylaw 01-23                                                                                                      91 
 

(2) Manufactured Home Subdivision Standards 
 
The following regulations apply to manufactured homes: 
 
Minimum Parcel Area: Interior parcels 278.5 m² (2,998 ft2) 

Corner parcels 314.5 m² (3,385 ft2) 
 
Maximum Parcel Coverage: 55% 
 
Minimum Yard Requirements: Manufactured homes shall be sited at least: 
 

i)  3.5 m (11 ft) from one another (except attached structures), 
and 

 

ii)  3 m (10 ft) from the rear parcel boundary. 
 

The front and side yards shall be in accordance with an overall plan 
for the subdivision which shall be prepared by the developer of the 
subdivision in conjunction with and subject to the approval of the 
Development Officer.  The plan shall provide for front yards to be a 
minimum of 3 m (10 ft) and side yards to be either 0 m or 1.2 m (4 
ft) except abutting public roads where 3 m (10 ft) shall be provided. 
 

In the case of those parcels where a 0 m side yard is required by 
the plan, easements for a 1.2 m (2 ft) eave encroachment, 
satisfactory to the development authority, shall be registered 
against the title of the adjoining parcel. 

  
Maximum Building Height: (a) the distance between the ground level and the floor of the 

manufactured home shall not exceed 1 m (3 ft), or 
 

(a) the distance between the ground level and the underside of 
the subfloor shall not exceed 0.75 m (2 ft), 

 

whichever is the greater. 
 
Minimum Floor Area:  85 m² (915 ft2) 
 

Minimum Manufactured Home Width:  4.25 m (14 ft) 
 
Building Design:   All manufactured homes shall be factory built.   
     Skirting or any attached structure shall be factory built with 

matching exterior finish, or be of durable all-weather construction 
and designed in a manner that will enhance the appearance of the 
manufactured home. 

     The hitch and all wheels must be removed and the manufactured 
home placed on permanent foundation or concrete piers within 30 
days of being placed on a lot. 

 

Utilities:    All utility services and all utility wires and conduits shall be installed 
underground. 

 

Supplementary Regulations: All uses must also comply with the regulations in Schedule B and 
Schedule D.              [2011-01] 

 
 

68

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Land Use Bylaw Amendment Application 5200 58st. Olds, Alberta 
 

 
Rational for the application for a Land Use Bylaw amendment for the property at 5200 58 St in Olds.   
 
This property is an approximately 20.25 acre (8.19 ha) parcel south of the Olds Regional Exhibition.  The 
intention is to amend the land use bylaw to designate this parcel R4 to permit enable the development of 
a manufactured home community.  
 
The recent completion of the Housing Needs Assessment for the Town of Olds identifies priorities that 
include the need for an increase in diversity of housing options and seniors housing.    
 
• Entry Level Housing: The proposed development is a strategic response to this housing challenge 

reducing financial barriers with a lower cost housing op�on.  
 

• Seniors Housing:  The proposed development will offer new, low maintenance, right sized, one level 
living housing that will be an atrac�ve op�on for seniors.  

 
• Housing Diversity: The proposed development seeks to diversify the housing op�ons available in Olds 

by allowing for the development of a Manufactured Home Community. This alterna�ve housing model 
provides an accessible entry point to homeownership, catering to a broad spectrum of income levels 
and mee�ng the diverse needs of the community. 

 
• The proposed amendment aligns with Olds' commitment to sustainable and inclusive development. 

By allowing for the establishment of a Manufactured Home Community, we can create a well-planned 
and socially inclusive residen�al space that is accessible and inclusive for residents of all ages, abili�es, 
and mobility levels.   

 
• The proposed development will provide convenient access to essen�al services, including schools, 

healthcare facili�es, and commercial centers. This ensures that residents of the Manufactured Home 
Community have easy access to ameni�es, fostering a high quality of life for all. 

69

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



TOWN OF OLDS 
BYLAW NO. 2024-12 

 
BEING A BYLAW OF THE TOWN OF OLDS TO PROVIDE FOR THE AMENDMENT 

OF THE LAND USE BYLAW NO. 01-23  
 

WHEREAS Section 640(1) of the Municipal Government Act, being Chapter M-26 of the Revised 
Statues of Alberta 2000, and amendments thereto, provides that every municipality must pass a 
land use bylaw; and 
 
WHEREAS the Municipal Government Act, Revised Statutes of Alberta 2000 Chapter M-26 and 
amendments thereto, permit a Council by bylaw to amend the Land Use Bylaw; and 
 
WHEREAS the Council of the Town of Olds deems it necessary and expedient to amend the Land 
Use Bylaw No. 01-23. 
 
NOW THEREFORE the Council of the Town of Olds in the Province of Alberta, duly assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
BYLAW TITLE:  This Bylaw may be cited as the Land Use Amending Bylaw 2024-12. 
 
GENERAL RULES AND SPECIAL PROVISIONS 
1. Bylaw 01-23, being the Town of Olds Land Use Bylaw, is hereby amended as follows: 

 
That the Land Use District Map, being Schedule A of the Land Use Bylaw No. 01-23, be 
amended to change the designation of Lot 1, Block 2, Plan 1612209 from Urban Reserve 
(UR) to Manufactured Home District (R4) as shown on the attached map (Appendix A). 

 
EFFECTIVE DATE 
This bylaw comes into force on the date it is passed. 
 
READINGS 
 
Read for a first time on the 26th day of February 2024. 
Public Hearing held on the ____ day of __________, 2024.  
Read a second time on the ____ day of __________, 2024. 
Read a third and final time on the ____ day of __________, 2024. 
 

 
 
 
________________________________ ___________________________________ 
Judy Dahl, Mayor  Brent Williams, Chief Administrative Officer 
 
SIGNED by the Chief Elected Official and the Chief Administrative Officer this ____ day of 
_____, 2024. 
 

 

70

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Town of Olds Bylaw 2024-12  
Page 2 of 3 
 

Appendix A of Bylaw No. 2024-12 
 

Change in Land Use Bylaw Designation for Lot 1, Block 2, Plan 1612209 
 

 

71

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Town of Olds Bylaw 2024-12  
Page 3 of 3 
 
 
 
 

72

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



 

Page 1 of 2 

  
RFD – Bylaw 2024-13 

Request for Decision 

Bylaw No. 2024-13 – Amendment to Land Use Bylaw 

February 26, 2024    
 

RECOMMENDATION 

That Bylaw No. 2024-13 (Amendment to Land Use Bylaw 01-23) be given first reading as presented. 
 
That Monday, March 25, 2024, at 1:00pm in Council Chambers at 4512 46 Street in Olds, be set as the 
date, time, and place for a Public Hearing on Bylaw No. 2024-13. 

STRATEGIC ALIGNMENT 

In Council’s Strategic Plan for 2022-2032, the second strategic goal is: “The Olds community is supported 
and enabled through skillful governance.” 

LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY 

1. Municipal Government Act – Chapter M-26, Part 17, Division 5 Section 640(1) every municipality must 
pass a Land Use Bylaw. 

2. Municipal Government Act – Chapter M-26, Part 5, Division 9, Section 191(1) the power to pass a 
bylaw…includes a power to amend or repeal the bylaw. 

BACKGROUND  

The Town has recently launched initiatives to encourage owners of unpermitted secondary suites to 
legalize the suites via the development and building permit processes. Since then, Planning & 
Development has been receiving inquiries about two types of suites that are not currently allowed under 
the current Land Use Bylaw regulations: 
 

1) Suites in duplexes  
 
Suites secondary to duplex units that are on their own titled parcels are permitted under the 
National Building Code – Alberta Edition. The Land Use Bylaw is currently more restrictive than 
the building code and only allows suites on lots with detached dwellings. 

 
2) Detached Suites in the General Residential (R2) land use district 

 
Suites in the R2 district are currently restricted to being within the principal dwelling building 
(basement suites or attached at-grade suites), meaning that garage and garden suites in the rear 
yard are not allowed, despite being permissible in the Low Density Residential District (R1) and 
General Residential Narrow Lot District (R2N). 

 
The proposed amendment would bring the Land Use Bylaw into alignment with the building code and 
allow for more flexibility regarding the types of secondary suites allowed in Olds. 
 
FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS   ☐ Operating  ☐ Capital ☒ Not Applicable 
Details: N/A 
 

73

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



 

Page 2 of 2 

 
KEY MESSAGES 

The proposed bylaw amendment presents an opportunity to allow a wider variety of affordable housing 
options in Olds. The R2 district is generally intended for higher residential densities than the R1 district. 
By allowing secondary suites in R2, the Town will be more in line with the intent of these districts.  

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Draft Bylaw 2024-13 
 

Approved By: James Crozier  Date: Feb. 20, 2024 

CAO Review: Brent Williams  Date: 21 Feb 2024 

 
 

74

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



TOWN OF OLDS 
BYLAW NO. 2024-13 

 
BEING A BYLAW OF THE TOWN OF OLDS TO PROVIDE FOR THE AMENDMENT 

OF THE LAND USE BYLAW NO. 01-23  
 

WHEREAS Section 640(1) of the Municipal Government Act, being Chapter M-26 of the Revised 
Statues of Alberta 2000, and amendments thereto, provides that every municipality must pass a 
land use bylaw; and 
 
WHEREAS the Municipal Government Act, Revised Statutes of Alberta 2000 Chapter M-26 and 
amendments thereto, permit a Council by bylaw to amend the Land Use Bylaw; and 
 
WHEREAS the Council of the Town of Olds deems it necessary and expedient to amend the Land 
Use Bylaw No. 01-23. 
 
NOW THEREFORE the Council of the Town of Olds in the Province of Alberta, duly assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
BYLAW TITLE:  This Bylaw may be cited as the Land Use Amending Bylaw 2024-13. 
 
DEFINITIONS 
“Detached Dwelling” means a residential building containing one dwelling unit, which is physically 
separate from any other residential building, and does not include a manufactured home. 
 
“Duplex” means a separate residential building consisting of two dwelling units only. 
 
“Parcel” means the aggregate of the one or more areas of land described in a certificate of title or 
described in a certificate of title by reference to a plan filed or registered in a land titles office. 
 
GENERAL RULES AND SPECIAL PROVISIONS 
Bylaw 01-23, being the Town of Olds Land Use Bylaw, is hereby amended as follows: 
 

1. That the definition: “Secondary Suite” means an additional dwelling unit, subordinate to 
the principal dwelling unit, on a parcel designated for a single-detached dwelling. 
 
Be replaced with: “Secondary Suite” means an additional dwelling unit, subordinate to a 
principal dwelling unit, on a parcel that has only one principal dwelling unit.  

 
2. That Schedule B, Section 6(13)(a) be replaced with the following: 

 
A maximum of one secondary suite may be permitted per parcel. 

 
3. That Schedule B, Section 6(13)(i) be replaced with the following: 

 
Secondary suites must meet all standards of the National Building Code – Alberta Edition. 
 

4. That Schedule C: District Regulations, General Residential District (R2) is amended by 
adding Secondary suites as a discretionary use and removing Secondary suite contained 
within the principal building. 

75

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Town of Olds Bylaw 2024-13  
Page 2 of 2 
 
 
EFFECTIVE DATE 
This bylaw comes into force on the date it is passed. 
 
READINGS 
 
Read for a first time on the 26th day of February 2024. 
Public Hearing held on the ____ day of __________, 2024.  
Read a second time on the ____ day of __________, 2024. 
Read a third and final time on the ____ day of __________, 2024. 
 

 
 
________________________________ ___________________________________ 
Judy Dahl, Mayor  Brent Williams, Chief Administrative Officer 
 
 
SIGNED by the Chief Elected Official and the Chief Administrative Officer this ____ day of 
_____, 2024. 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

76

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



 

Page 1 of 1 

  
OFL Interest Forgiveness 

Request for Decision 

OFL Interest Forgiveness 

February 26, 2024    
 

RECOMMENDATION 

That interest in the amount of $160,408.98 that being the Town’s portion of the interest on the Olds 
Fibre Ltd. promissory note be forgiven for the April 17, 2024, and October 17, 2024, loan payments. 
 

STRATEGIC ALIGNMENT 
Sound fiscal practices are balanced with a commitment to prioritizing value for our citizens. 

LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY 

Bylaw 2022-07 Loan Bylaw – Olds Fibre Ltd. 

BACKGROUND  

On May 9th, 2022, Council passed bylaw 2022-07 entering into a new loan agreement with Olds Fibre 
Ltd. (OFL) for the aggregate indebtedness of up to $15,000,000. The $15M was comprised of the original 
debenture loan ($10M) the Town reloan portion ($3.8M) an existing shareholder loan ($342K) with the 
remaining amount being legal and consulting fees during the forbearance period. 
 
Administration is recommending that the Town forgive the interest on the Town reloan portion of this 
loan for the two upcoming payments in 2024. This forgiveness is meant to assist OFL strengthen its 
financial position following the television conversion and ongoing core network upgrades.  
 
FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS   ☒ Operating  ☐ Capital ☐ Not Applicable 
Details: This will result in a reduction to Interest Revenue for the Town of $160,410 
 
KEY MESSAGES 
The Town of Olds recognizes the need to support O-NET as it transitions to its next generation technology 
and service offerings. Forgiving one-year of interest payments on the Town supported debenture keeps 
the original loan agreement in place and does not affect the principal owing to the Town.  

ATTACHMENTS: N/A 

 

CAO Review: Brent Williams Date: 21 Feb 2024 

 
 

77

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



 

Page 1 of 1 

  
Council Appointment 

Request for Decision 

Council Appointment to the Community Futures Central Alberta Board 

February 26, 2024    
 

RECOMMENDATION 
That Council appoint _______________ to the Community Futures Central Alberta Board effective 
February 26, 2024, for a term ending at the Annual Organizational meeting of the Town of Olds held in 
October of 2025. 

STRATEGIC ALIGNMENT 
Our community is supported and enabled through skillful governance. 
Our thriving community is built on strong and collaborative relationships. 

LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY 

1. Municipal Government Act 
2. Town of Olds Bylaws and Policies 

BACKGROUND  
Community Futures branches help rural small businesses to start and grow. Their services include 
business coaching, planning, and small business financing if your business requires lending services. 
They also work on community economic development projects and strategic planning within our 
communities. 

Administration has prepared a request for decision for council to appoint one (1) member to the 
Community Futures Central Alberta (CFCA) Board at the February 26 council meeting.  
 
The CFCA Board meets 9-10 times/year and meetings are scheduled on the third Wednesday of each 
month. Board does not meet in July and August. Council was asked to consider if they  had the time 
required for this board.  

 
FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS   ☒ Operating  ☐ Capital ☐ Not Applicable 
Details: For municipally appointed directors, mileage is paid for by the municipality as it is deemed a 
committee appointment. Meals are provided, and any training requirements or conference costs are 
covered by CFCA.  
 
KEY MESSAGES 
The appointment of a council member to a board facilitates a strong connection between the local 
government and the specific functions or interests represented by that board. It’s a mechanism for 
ensuring that municipal decisions and actions are well-coordinated and reflective of the community’s 
needs.   
 
ATTACHMENTS – n/a 
 

CAO Review: Brent Williams Date:  February 22, 2024 

 
 

78

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



 

Page 1 of 1 

  
Chief Administrative Officer Report 

Request for Decision 

Chief Administrative Officer Report 

February 26, 2024   
 

RECOMMENDATION 

That the Chief Administrative Officer Report be accepted for information. 
 

STRATEGIC ALIGNMENT 
Our residents and town staff actively communicate and engage with us through open dialogue. 
Our community is supported and enabled through skillful governance. 
Our thriving community is built on strong and collaborative relationships. 
Sound fiscal practices are balanced with a commitment to prioritizing value for our citizens. 

LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY 

Municipal Government Act Division 9, Part 6, Section 208(1)  

BACKGROUND  

One of the Chief Administrative Officer’s responsibilities is to advise and inform the council on the 
operations and affairs of the municipality. CAO Williams will present his monthly report to council for 
their information.  
 
FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS   ☐ Operating  ☐ Capital ☒ Not Applicable 
Details: 
 
KEY MESSAGES 
A Chief Administrative Officer’s responsibility is to advise and inform the council on the operations and 
affairs of the municipality. The CAO Verbal Report is meant to provide information to Council that is 
more routine in nature and does not require a decision from Council.  

ATTACHMENTS  

1. Action Items 

 
 

CAO Review: Brent Williams Date:  February 22, 2024 

 
 

79

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



 Council Action Items 

Number Item 
Date 

Added Status Note 

2023-06 Research changes to approvals in Direct Control Districts 8-May Incomplete 

LUB 
Amendemnt 
TBD 

2023-15 Advertise Reporting Procedure for Bylaw Complaints 2-Oct Complete  
2023-16 Compensation and Benefits Review Presentation 2-Oct Complete  
2023-17 Housing Incentive Policy Update 2-Oct Complete  
2023-18 Vapour Testing Report 2-Oct Complete  
2023-20 Onboarding Process: Staff Engagement and Survey 2-Oct Incomplete  
2023-21 Professional Development Procedure 2-Oct Incomplete  
2023-22 Residential Incentive Changes 2-Oct Complete  
2023-23 Advertise ME Complaint process to the public 13-Nov Complete  
2023-24 Bylaw officer to SLR for discussions 13-Nov Complete  
2023-25 Off site levy impacts on land costs 13-Nov Complete  
2023-26 Provide Utility Bill Reduction Options 13-Nov Complete  

2023-27 
Prepare a summary of carbon tax impact on Town 
finances 22-Nov Complete  

2023-28 Provide policy options for staff at top of salary grid 22-Nov Complete  
2023-39 Sportsfield Classification System - add to policy/procedure 11-Dec Incomplete  
2024-01 Update Partners on Website: Re, Uptowne 8-Jan Complete  

2024-02 
Bring forward further information for disucssion on 
drought potential 12-Feb Incomplete  

2024-03 
Council appointment to the Community Futures Central 
Alberta (CFCA) Board  12-Feb Incomplete  

80

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



 

Page 1 of 1 

  
Correspondence and Information 

Request for Decision 
 
Correspondence and Information  
 
February 26, 2024   

 

RECOMMENDATION 

That the Correspondence and Information Report ending February 26, 2024, be received for 
information. 
 

STRATEGIC ALIGNMENT 
Our residents and town staff actively communicate and engage with us through open dialogue. 
Our community is supported and enabled through skillful governance. 
Our thriving community is built on strong and collaborative relationships. 

LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY 

Council Communication Response Policy 

BACKGROUND  

The Correspondence and Information Report is a collection of general information received at the Town 
Office and is provided to the Council as information. The council may choose to provide directions to 
Administration on any item contained in this report. 
 
LIST OF CORRESPONDENCE AND INFORMATION PRESENTED: 
 

ITEM # FROM / TO REGARDING 
A Municipal Affairs Alberta Community Partnership Program 
B Olds RCMP Detachment Commander Policing Priorities 2024-2025 

 
FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS   ☐ Operating  ☐ Capital ☒ Not Applicable 
 
KEY MESSAGES 
The Town is dedicated to building and maintaining a reputation as a transparent, authoritative, and 
engaged partner in the community and internally with employees. 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. The Correspondence and Information packet is attached. 
 

CAO Review: Brent Williams Date: February , 2023 

 
 

81

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



82

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



83

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Security ClassiticaticnlDesignatjon

Royal Canadian Gendarmerie royale
Mounted Police du Canada

NCO i/c RCMP
Olds RCMP Detachment
5110 -65 Avenue
Olds, Alberta
T4H 1L8

Mayor Judy DAHL
Town of Olds
4512-46 Street
Olds, Alberta
T4H 1R5

February 22, 2024

Dear Mayor DAHL,

Annual Performance Plan - 2024 1 2025
Town of Olds - Municipal Policing Priorities

Your File

Our File

In preparation of the 2024/2025 Annual Performance Plan for the Olds Detachment, I
am requesting that the Town of Olds please provide me with their policing priorities for the
coming year Last year (2023 / 2024), the Town identified their policing priorities as:

1, Crime Reduction

2. Community Engagment - Be Clear Accountable and Transparent

3. Mental Health and Violence in Relationships - Enhance Awareness and Education

4. Enhance Road Safety

If possible, can you please reply to my request for your policing priorities by March 27,
2024, as my intent is to have the entire 2023/2024 Annual Performance Plan completed by

April 1, 2024. If you have any questions or require further clarfication on my request, please
contact me at (403) 556-3324 or warren.wright©rcmp-grc.gc.ca.

Further I am planning on hosting my annual Olds RCMP Town Hall in Olds on a date in

the week of June 24 to 28, 2024. Once the specific date is finalized, I will communicate with

the Town requesting assistance in advertising on the social media

Olds RCMP Detachment
(403) 556-3324

Page 1 of 1

Canadi

84

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



 

Page 1 of 1 

  
Reports from Council and Minutes from various groups 

 

Request for Decision 
 
Reports from Council, Authorities, Boards Committees, and     C       
Commissions    

 
February 26, 2024    

 

RECOMMENDATION 

That the reports from Council, Authorities, Boards, Committees and Commissions ending February 26, 
2024, be received for information. 
 
STRATEGIC ALIGNMENT 
Our community is supported and enabled through skillful governance. 
Our thriving community is built on strong and collaborative relationships. 
 
LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY 
Excerpt from Council Member Appointment Policy: 
Members of Olds Town Council are appointed to Authorities, Boards, and Commissions annually. 
Authority, Board, Commission (ABC)” means a committee that is granted the authority by Council to 
make decisions on behalf of Council to which elected officials are appointed to at the Town of Olds 
Organizational Meeting. 
 
BACKGROUND 
Local councils have many responsibilities and appointments that require time, commitment, and 
attention. Appointments to boards and committees are supplemented by meetings, workshops, training, 
conferences, and seminars. When it comes to regional, provincial boards and committees, council 
appointees work with teams of professionals to find solutions to problems, create innovation, and lobby 
for support. Working to improve the quality of life for citizens of the community. 
 
FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS   ☒ Operating  ☐ Capital ☐ Not Applicable 
Details: Council expenses are funded by Council professional development plans.  
 
KEY MESSAGES 
The appointment of elected officials to the various, authorities, boards, commissions, and committees 
provide for the interest of the town to be expressed and to provide a direct communication link on 
matters that Council as a whole, should be informed of. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 

1. Reports package attached. 
 

CAO Review: Brent Williams Date:   February 22, 2024 

 
 

85

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Council Report to February 26, 2024 

Submitted by Councillor Wanda Blatz 

- Attended Regular Council meetings. 
 

- Attended Alberta Innovates Webinar on Alberta’s Water Resources in 
Hydrogen Production January 31, 2024: 

o Topics included, the transition of net zero emissions, water demands 
on hydrogen production, water availability, hydrogen production in 
context of water availability, recommendations and next steps.  
Hydrogen production takes H20 to produce H2, with any benefits to 
the production there will be trade-offs as to the priorities for water 
usage.  Presenters were David VanDen Assem from Alberta Innovates 
and Steve Herman from Water Smart Solutions. 
 

- Olds Chamber of Commerce Small Business Mix and Mingle Evening 
February 6, 2024 
 

- Attended the Mountain View Regional Water Commission Meeting, 
February 14, 2024, minutes will be included as correspondence as they are 
available. 
 

- Attended meetings for the newly formed Mountain View Regional Water 
Services Drought Committee.  This committee has board members from 
each commission member municipality.  Presentation from Alberta 
Environment, Todd Aasen on the current 2024 Drought Risk and 
Management plan for Alberta. Todd discussed the current situation in the 
province and strategies needed to implement processes. MVRWSC has 
developed a tentative drought plan and will be requesting feedback from 
the member municipalities on the development of the plan.  The province 
is looking at the development of this plan to share information with other 
committees.  Hopefully this plan will provide consistency with drought 
processes throughout the province.  There will be discussions with the 
province as far as inter basin transfers and as this develops the MVRWSC 
will update member communities.  

86

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



 

87

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Minutes 

Mountain View Regional Water Services Commission 

Regular Meeting - Zoom Conference 

Jan 10, 2024 

Members Present: 

Chairman Lance Colby-Town of Carstairs 

Vice-Chairman Robb Stuart -Town of Bowden 

Gavin Bates -Town of lnnisfail 

Bill Windsor -Town of Didsbury 

Michael Knight -Town of Crossfield 

Jerry Roberts -Town of Carstairs alternate 

Rhonda Hunter -Town of Didsbury alternate 

Darren Wilson -Town of Olds alternate 

Staff Present: 

John Van Doesburg -CAO 

Tim Ainscough -Operations Director 

Samantha Lafontaine -Finance Manager 

Wes Olstad -Technical Manager 

Others Present: 

Stephen Ohene-Adjei -Pivotal LLP 

1. Call to Order

9:00A.M. 

Chairman Lance Colby called the meeting to order at 9:02 a.m. 

Stephen Ohene-Adjei entered the meeting at 9:05 a.m. 

2. Adoption of Agenda

Robb Stuart moved to accept the January 10, 2024 agenda to include the Town of Didsbury's Water 

Agreement update. 

Carried 

3. Approval of December Regular & Special Meeting Minutes

Gavin Bates motioned to accept the December 2023 Regular Meeting Minutes. 

Carried 

1

88

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Michael Knight moved to accept the December 2023 Special Meeting Minutes. 

Carried 

4. Reports

Lance Colby presented the Chairman's Report. 

Tim Ainscough presented the Director of Operations Report. 

Wes Olstad presented the Technical Manager's Report. 

John Van Doesburg presented the Administrative Report. 

Samantha Lafontaine presented the Financial Report. 

Robb Stuart moved to accept the presented reports as information. 

Carried 

5. New Business

a) Auditors - Pre- Audit Review with Board

John Van Doesburg, Wes Olstad and Samantha Lafontaine left the meeting at 9:05. 

Board members reviewed Audit priorities with Stephen Ohene-Adjei, Pivotal LLP's representative. 

Stephen Ohene-Adjei left the meeting at 9:11 a.m. 

John Van Doesburg, Wes Olstad and Samantha Lafontaine returned to the meeting at 9:12 a.m. 

b) Didsbury Water Agreement

Bill Windsor outlined the concerns the Town of Didsbury's council expressed regarding the Water 

Agreement between the Town of Didsbury and Mountain View Regional Water Services Commission. Bill 

Windsor shared that there will be a written submission presented at the next regular Commission 

meeting. 

Michael Knight moved to accept the verbal report as information. 

Carried 

2

89

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



6. Information

a) LAPP Year End Acknowledgement

Samantha Lafontaine shared LAPP's year end emailed acknowledgement of the timely 2023 year end 

submission. Board members thanked Samantha for her work in this area. 

Darren Wilson moved to accept the LAPP acknowledgement for information. 

Carried. 

7. Next Regular Meeting - February 14, 2024 at the Anthony Henday Water Plant.

8. Adjournment

Bill Windsor moved to adjourn the meeting at 10:05 a.m. 

Carried 

Chairman 

Manager 

3

90

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



Olds A&R Committee Minutes
January 16, 2024 @ 6:00 p.m.

Olds Community Connection Centre

Present: Erin Lowe, Dan Daley, Lucille Konsmo, Elizabeth Schaffer, Jesse Michaud, Apryl
Webb, Dr. Onsongo, Barry McCurdy (Guest), Ed Hildebrandt (Guest), Bernice Lynn (Guest)

Regrets: Gloria Ulry, Jennifer Lutz, Fritz Latimer, Jillian Toellner, Dr. Wielenga, Liberty Poon

New Action Item Responsible Complete/Incomplete

Spend remainder of MVCU
grand on appreciation gifts

Erin Complete

1. Call to Order 6:04

2. Additions to the Agenda

3. Approval of minutes of the December 12, 2023 committee meeting as presented -
Apyl approved as circulated

4. Old Business (Updates)
a. Mountain View County Grant Spending (Erin)

- Funds spent - Erin has everything stored at her house

b. Housing Update (Dan/Jesse)
- Continue to brainstorm as a committee
- Olds Eyecare not really suitable for someone not in healthcare

c. Internationally Educated Nurses Support (Erin)
- Erin continues to connect with Olds Hospital manager about how/if

they need support

d. Meeting with Dr Jennifer Bestard/Central Zone Community Attraction &
Retention Committees (Erin)

- Documents with summary were attached to agenda
- Biggest takeaway was the importance of retention

5. New Business
a. RhPAP Update (Alicia)

- Documents were attached to agenda

b. Olds Hospital Fundraising Committee Relationship (Barry McCurdy)

91

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



- Need to branch outside the hospital and into the community
- Newest campaign to buy hospital beds ($600,000 for beds)
- $400,000 budget per year
- Looking at grant funding
- Scholarships - committee gave away 3 - $1000 scholarships last year
- Committee would like to partner with other committees in the

community to see how we can work to “Grow your own at home” for
students - i.e. Healthcare Aide (HCA)

- Would like to help fund education

c. Next Steps (Erin)
- Tabled until next meeting

d. Olds Lifestyles and Age Friendly Meeting Update (Lucille/Bernice)
- Dementia care concerns - see article in the newspaper link here:

https://www.mountainviewtoday.ca/olds-news/olds-group-will-wait-a
nd-see-if-ahs-addresses-seniors-issues-after-meeting-8103972

- Hospice care concerns

e. Rhapsody Awards
- Nominate a healthcare hero or physician from our area. Deadline is

February 29, 2024.
- Any suggestions for nominees?

6. Next meeting date - February 13, 2024 @ 6 pm

7. Adjournment - 7:38 pm

New Action Item Responsible Complete/Incomplete

Consider nominees for
Rhapsody Awards

Entire committee

Individual committee
members to consider
whether they would like to
liaise with Olds Hospital
Fundraising Committee
regarding educational
opportunities in our
community.

Entire committee

92

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024

https://www.mountainviewtoday.ca/olds-news/olds-group-will-wait-and-see-if-ahs-addresses-seniors-issues-after-meeting-8103972
https://www.mountainviewtoday.ca/olds-news/olds-group-will-wait-and-see-if-ahs-addresses-seniors-issues-after-meeting-8103972


93

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



 
Council Committees/Boards Report -

Feb 2024 
Submitted by Councillor Heather Ryan  

 
 

Mountainview Seniors Housing 
Attended the MVSH board meeting on Feb. 15, where discussion focused on the 

government’s asset transfer proposal and the board approved a motion directing the 
administration to continue discussions on this matter. The board also gave kudos to the 
tremendous work by the maintenance staff, who perform both preventative maintenance 
and some renovations for MVSH and were able to find cost-savings through efficiencies. 
The board further noted a continued increase in occupancy in MVSH-owned buildings.  

 

South Red Deer Regional Wastewater Commission 
Attended the SRDRWC strategic planning session on Feb. 16. The commission heard 

from each member municipality (either from their respective CAOs or operations staff) in 
the morning on the topics such as wastewater operations, needs for the future and inflow 
and infiltration. The afternoon session saw commission members and alternates 
participate in fulsome discussions on those and other topics and set out a plan going 
forward.  

 

Alberta Municipalities Infrastructure Committee 
The Alberta Municipalities – Infrastructure Committee met on Feb. 2 where items in 

the 2024 work plan were reviewed. There was also a discussion on the status of 
resolutions related to the infrastructure 
committee and presentations were made by 
FireSmart Alberta and the Alberta Energy 
Regulator.  
 

Also attended: Regular council meetings, 
Olds Chamber of Commerce Mix & Mingle, 
which was very well attended, Strategic Planning 
sessions, and the launch of CBC’s The Great 
Canadian Pottery Throw Down in support of 
Olds High School instructor Renu Mathew, who 
paid homage to Olds with her first entry – a 
practice piece of which is shown here. 

94

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



 

Page 1 of 2 

  
Public At Large Appointments 

Request for Decision 

Appointments to the Council Remuneration Review Committee 

February 25, 2024    
 

RECOMMENDATION 

That Council appoint _______________, ______________________, _________________, 
____________________ and ________________ to the Council Remuneration Review Committee 
effective February 26, 2024. 
 
That Council charge the Council Remuneration Review Committee to report back to Council on 
or/before the May 27, 2024, regular council meeting with recommendations on the policy 106C on 
Council remuneration and benefits to be established for members of Council effective once the 
Council is elected in 2025.  
 

STRATEGIC ALIGNMENT 
Our residents and town staff actively communicate and engage with us through open dialogue. 
Our community is supported and enabled through skillful governance. 
Our thriving community is built on strong and collaborative relationships. 
Sound fiscal practices are balanced with a commitment to prioritizing value for our citizens. 

LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY 

1. Municipal Government Act 
2. Town of Olds Bylaws and Policies 

BACKGROUND  

In an ongoing commitment to transparency, fairness, and accountability, the Town of Olds has 
established a comprehensive process for the regular review of council remuneration and benefits. The 
creation of an ad hoc citizens committee on council compensation is a key component of this process, 
aiming to ensure that compensation aligns with responsibilities and expectations of elected officials. 
 
Administration advertised in adherence to Town policies for public at large to be appointed to this 
committee.  Applications will be presented to Council in closed session under FOIP Section 16 Disclosure 
harmful to personal privacy, after that closed session presentation, council will return to open session 
and make the appointments accordingly.    
 
Remuneration Review Process: 

1. Committee Formation: In the third year of the term, specifically before March 1st of the year 
preceding the general municipal election, council is mandated to appoint an ad hoc citizens 
committee on compensation. This committee is comprised solely of public at large members 
ensuring a diverse and impartial perspective. 

2. Involvement of council members: Council members actively participate in the review process by 
attending interviews with the citizens ad hoc committee. This engagement fosters 
communication between elected officials and community representatives regarding Council 
renumeration and benefits policy 106C. 

95

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024



 

Page 2 of 2 

3. Committee Mandate and Timeline: Council charges the ad hoc citizens committee with the 
responsibility to provide recommendations within 90 days. These recommendations pertain to 
the policy on honorariums and benefits for members of Council, with the intention of 
implementing changes effective once the new council is elected. 

4. Council decision on recommendations: Upon receiving the report from the ad hoc citizens 
committee on council compensation, council has a 30-day window to deliberate. Within this 
timeframe, council is required to place a motion on the agenda, deciding whether to accept 
reject, or modify the recommendations put forth by the committee.  

 
This structured process emphasizes community involvement, transparency, and responsiveness to 
evolving municipal needs, ensuring that the compensation and benefits for elected officials align with 
the community expectations and best practices in governance. 

 
FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS   ☐ Operating  ☐ Capital ☒ Not Applicable 
Details: 
 

KEY MESSAGES 
In a steadfast commitment to transparency, fairness, and accountability, the Town of Olds has instituted 
a thorough process for the regular review of council renumeration and benefits,  exemplified by the 
formation of an ad hoc citizens committee. This committee, composed of public at large members, 
engages in a collaborative review with council members, culminating in recommendations that, once 
deliberated by council, ensure the alignment of compensation and benefit with community expectations 
and best practices in governance, fostering a responsive and accountable municipal leadership. 

ATTACHMENTS – n/a 
 

CAO Review: Brent Williams Date:  February 22, 2024 

 
 

96

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 26, 2024


	1) 2024 02 26 RC Mtg Agenda
	2A) 2024 02 12 RC Mtg Minutes - Prior
	3A) RFD Delegation Nathan Cooper
	3B) RFD RCMP Quarterly Report
	3B.1) 2023 Q3 Community Letter Town of Olds
	3B.2) Olds Q3 Municipal Crime Statistics
	3B.3) Q3 2023_24 Olds Municipal Community Report Olds
	4A) RFD - Bylaw 2024-05 Animal
	4A.1) Animal Bylaw 2024-05 - 2nd reading Feb 26
	PART 10 EXEMPTIONS

	4A.2) PPT - Animal Bylaw Presentation - 2nd reading
	Animal Bylaw: 2nd Reading
	Purpose
	Slide Number 3
	Animal Licenses/ �Number of Animals Per Household 
	Animal Licenses/�Number of Animals Per Household Continued
	Stray & Abandoned Animals
	Animals in Prohibited Areas
	Other Matters
	Questions and Discussion

	4B) 2024-12 RFD First Reading
	4B.1) 2024-12 Attachment 1 - Site Context
	4B.2) 2024-12 Attachment 2 - ARP Concept Map
	4B.3) 2024-12 Attachment 3 - R4 District
	4B.4) 2024-12 Attachment 4 - Applicant Rationale
	4B.5) 2024-12 Attachment 5 - Draft Bylaw
	4C) RFD Bylaw 2024-13 First Reading
	4C.1) Bylaw 2024-13 Attachment 1 - Draft Bylaw
	5A) RFD - OFL Interest forgiveness
	5B) RFD - Council Appointments to the CFCA Board
	6A) RFD CAO Report- Verbal Update
	6A.1) Council Action Items - FEb 26 RC Mtg
	7A) RFD Correspondence and Information
	7A.1) AR113641 - Minister signed letter - Mountain View County
	7A.2) Town of Olds - Request for Policing Priorities - 2024 2025
	8A) RFD - Reports from Council ABC's
	BLATZ Rpt to Council  Jan Feb-24
	MVRWSC January 2024 Mtg Minutes
	Olds A&R Committee
	RYAN Rpt to Council Feb 26-2024
	Council Committees/Boards Report -Feb 2024
	Submitted by Councillor Heather Ryan

	10A) RFD - Public at Large Appointments to the Council Remuneration Review Committee



